DICKINSON ALUMNUS



Vol. 28, No. 2

December, 1950

The Dickinson Alumnus

Published Quarterly for the Alumni of Dickinson College and the Dickinson School of Law

Editor - - - - - - - - - - - - - Gilbert Malcolm, '15, '17L Associate Editors - Dean M. Hoffman, '02, Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., '35 Roger H. Steck, '26

ALUMNI COUNCIL

Class of 1951
Glenn T. Todd, '12
Mrs. Marietta H. Stitzel, '19
C. Wendell Holmes, '21
Thomas V. Zug, '33
C. B. Hendrickson, Jr., '38
Herbert Sheidy,
Class of 1948

iew.

Class of 1952
Russell R. McWhinney '15
Mervin G. Eppley, '17
Dr. Charles F. Berkheimer, '18
Mrs. Helen D. Gallagher, '26
W. Richard Eshelman, '41
William R. Valentine, Jr.,
Class of 1949

Class of 1953
Maude E. Wilson, '14
Urie D. Lutz, '19
William M. Young, '21
Dr. Robert L. D. Davidson, '31
H. Lynn Edwards, '36
Weston Overholt, Class of 1950

GENERAL ALUMNI ASSOCIATION OF DICKINSON COLLEGE

PresidentC. Wendell Holmes SecretaryMrs. Helen D. Gallagher Vice-PresidentGlenn E. Todd

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Start Building New Dormitory For Women	1
Dorm Ground-Breaking Marks Homecoming	3
Takes Post When Dean of Women Marries	5
Honor Theologian At Special Convocation	6
Another Alumnus Becomes Governor of Pennsylvania	7
Death Claims Former Alumni Association Treasurer	9
Receives Leadership Award in Apple Industry	11
Football Team Wins Three and Drops Four	12
Editorial	16
Life Membership Race Tightens As Total Climbs	17
Trustee, Father of Four Dickinsonians, Dies	18
Personals	19
Obituary	26

Life Membership \$40. May be paid in two installments of \$20 each, six months apart or in \$10 installments.

Alumni dues \$2.00 per year, including \$1.00 for one year's subscription to the magazine. All communications should be addressed to

The Dickinson Alumnus, West College, Carlisle, Pa.
"Entered as second-class matter May 23, 1923, at the post office at
Carlisle, Pennsylvania, under the Act of March 3, 1879."

THE DICKINSON ALUMNUS

DECEMBER, 1950

Start Building New Dormitory For Women

STEADY progress in construction of the new dormitory for women has been made by the builders since the breaking of ground at Homecoming on November 4 by President William W. Edel and C. Wendell Holmes, '21, president of the General Alumni Association.

With the necessary steel assured, it is expected that construction will go along steadily and be completed by next September. The Potteiger Company, Inc., West Reading, Pa., on a bid of approximately \$650,000, was awarded the general contract after bids from seven firms were opened in October. The successful bidder was also the lowest.

It is estimated by the building committee of which M. W. Allen, of Carlisle, is the chairman, that furnishings and equipment will cost \$100,000, bringing the combined costs of this first monument of the Development Program to \$750,-

Meanwhile, the Development Program campaign moves along steadily. President Edel announced early this month that the College had received a number of additional substantial gifts and that achievement of the goal by next Commencement is anticipated.

With a steam shovel as the backdrop, the groundbreaking ceremonies on the Rush Campus were simple and brief. President Edel and Holmes wielded spade and pick after a prayer by Rev. Dr. Roy T. Henwood, '26, of Oneonta, N. Y., superintendent of the Oneonta District, Wyoming Conference, of the Methodist Church.

"In the name of the Trustees I lift this spadeful of ground," said President Edel, and the first new major construction at the College since 1929 was officially underway.

At an event earlier in the day he had remarked, "We come to the commencement of this new building through one fact—the loyalty of the alumni. Wherever I go, I encounter that loyalty."

The contractor put crews to work immediately and by December all of the excavating work that could be done by machine had been completed, concrete footers poured and the stonework started. Work will continue through the winter as weather permits. The placing of steel is scheduled for January.

The four-story stone building, designed by Sydney E. Martin, Philadelphia architect, will accommodate 125 students in 68 study-sleeping rooms of which 11 are single and 57 double. Set back 60 feet from the sidewalk, it will extend approximately 240 feet along South College Street and to a depth of about 45 feet. It is the first new building on the Rush Campus.

The ground floor will contain a dining room to seat 200, the kitchen and dietician's office and the main recreation room, as well as a laundry, rest rooms, trunk storage room and oil-fueled furnaces. A large vestibule and lounge, two small parlors and an office will be on the main floor. This floor also will have 17 student rooms for double occupancy and a house director's suite. Twenty-three student rooms, another house director's suite and shower and pajama rooms are on the second floor. The third floor is laid out in much the same manner. Only the center portion of the building will have a fourth floor. This will be of the dormer type and consist of two double



President William W. Edel and Alumni Association President C. Wendell Holmes break ground for new dormitory for women.

rooms and one single room. Laundrypressing rooms and showers are conveniently located throughout the building.

In native limestone construction and in general architectural lines, the dormitory will harmonize with the other main buildings on the campus. The stone, which already is being quarried, will come from the same abundant vein close to Carlisle that furnished the handsome stone for Old West nearly 150 years ago.

The Potteiger Company, the builders, is a large and experienced firm which recently finished a 200-bed hospital for the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and is working on a \$600,000 municipal building in Reading and another hospital for the state.

Speaks At Inauguration

Bishop Fred P. Corson was the speaker at the inauguration of Carl Cluster Bracy as the eleventh chancellor of Nebraska Wesleyan University on October 13. He also served as the representative of Dickinson College on that occasion.

New York Alumni Meet

The annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of New York was held in the Hotel Russell on December 1 with 50 present.

Robert J. Shearer, '96, who plans to attend his 55th reunion next June, was introduced as the representative of the earliest class present. Among those at the dinner were four members of the Class of 1950, Barbara Nielson, Victoria Hann, C. Grant Smith, and Robert J. Weinstein.

Dr. J. Whitfield Bell, Jr., Boyd Lee Spahr Professor of American History, was the principal speaker with his subject, "Dickinson Yesterday, Today, and Tomorrow."

C. Wendell Holmes, president of the General Alumni Association, opened the speaking program which was concluded by President William W. Edel. Others who spoke briefly were Mrs. Helen Douglas Gallagher, secretary of the General Alumni Association and president of the Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey; Dr. Rowland R. Lehman, assistant to the president, and Vice-President Gilbert Malcolm.

John S. Snyder, '33, vice-president of John Weily and Sons, was elected president of the Club, succeeding Henry Logan, '10. George M. Davey, '25, was elected vice-president, and Benjamin R. Epstein, '33, secretary-treasurer. Three others were elected to the Executive Committee, William S. Thomas, '35, Harold M. Foster, '41, and C. Grant Smith, '50.

After the invocation offered by Dr. Lehman, Richard E. Hicks, a member of the Senior Class of the College and a fine baritone soloist, presented a group of solos with Miss Hann at the piano. He will graduate from the College in June and has already been accepted for admission at Jefferson Medical College.

Serves as Delegate

Dr. Roy W. Mohler, '17, trustee of the College, represented the College at the Centennial Convocation of the Women's Medical College of Pennsylvania held in Philadelphia on October 13 and 14.

Dorm Ground-Breaking Marks Homecoming

By ROGER H. STECK

HOMECOMING on November 4 brought with it the worst weather ever to attend this popular autumnal event at the College, but the big features of the day, including breaking of ground for the new dormitory for women, unveiling of 13 commemorative tablets in Old West and the football game with Gettysburg, went off as scheduled, along with an unlisted bit of merriment—the return of the Mermaid from a mysterious a.w.o.l. of two weeks.

So persistent was the rain that hardly half of the expected 1,000 guests were on hand for the alumni luncheon. Brief greetings were extended by President William W. Edel, Gilbert Malcolm, and C. Wendell Holmes, '21, president of the General Alumni Association.

But the rain stopped momentarily and patches of blue were overhead when President Edel and Holmes, with golden and beribboned pick and spade, broke ground on the Rush Campus for the new dormitory after a prayer by Rev. Roy T. Henwood, '26. "On behalf of the Trustees I lift this spadeful of earth," said Dr. Edel, and construction of the first major new building at the College since 1928 was underway.

Just before the luncheon a grateful college unveiled 13 bronze tablets commemorating former gifts and bequests of endowed faculty chairs, lectureships, scholarships and other specific endowments. The ceremony was held in the Hall of the Presidents, Old West, where the tablets hang on a panel just outside of the President's office. They serve to keep fresh, Dr. Edel remarked, the names of individuals in whose memory the gifts were made, and they express for all to see the gratitude of the College for the devotion and generosity of the donors.

For each tablet a speaker told about the donor or the person memorialized. The endowments and the speakers follow: James Henry Morgan Lectureship, President Edel; Lemuel T. Appold Foundation, Boyd Lee Spahr, '00, president of the Trustees; Melville Gambrill Fund, Kermit Lloyd, '51, a student; Robert Coleman Chair of History, Dr. Herbert Wing, Jr., occupant of the chair; Thomas Beaver Chair of English Literature, Dr. Eric W. Barnes, the occupant; Susan Powers Hoffman Chair of Mathematics, Dr. Frank Ayres, Jr., the occupant; Asbury J. Clarke Chair of Latin, Dr. Arthur V. Bishop, the occupant.

Also, Richard V. C. Watkins Chair of Psychology, Prof. Benjamin D. James, acting chairman of the psychology department; Martha Porter Sellers Chair of Rhetoric, F. B. Sellers, Jr., '97, Carlisle; Boyd Lee Spahr Chair of American History, Dr. Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., the occupant; Baltimore Conference Education Fund, Rev. Dr. Edward G. Latch, '21, Washington, D. C.; Philadelphia Conference Education Fund, the Rev. John A. McElroy, '35, Philadelphia; General Education Board Fund, Dr. Malcolm.

Life members of the Alumni Association will receive certificates suitable for framing, in addition to the present membership card, the Alumni Council decided at its fall meeting, first of the Homecoming events, which was held in the Commons with 31 members, their wives or husbands present. Dr. Malcolm announced that the number of Lifers had reached 964 and that the goal of 1,000 by Commencement was in sight.

A preliminary report on revision of the by-laws was made by William M. Young, '21, Harrisburg, chairman of the committee, who said the complete report will be ready by next Commencement. Dr. Robert J., D. Davidson, '31, Franklinville, N. J., and Herbert Sheidy, '48, now a student at the Law School, are the other members of the committee.

The Council paid tribute to Dr. Malcolm for "devoted service" to the College and the Alumni Association for over a quarter of a century. "He is giving his time, his energy and, in fact, his life for a better Dickinson," remarked Wendell Holmes, president, who turned over to "Red" a certificate award from the American Alumni Council citing him for "outstanding achievement in support of higher education through service in alumni work." Since joining the college staff in 1922 as endowment secretary Dr. Malcolm has held virtually every administrative position, including that of acting president. The first and only alumni secretary, he founded THE ALUMNUS in 1923 and has been its editor through the years.

Despite rain at game time, the biggest crowd on Biddle Field in a decade was on hand for the long-awaited resumption of football with Gettysburg, which won the game, 7-6, when Dickinson failed to kick the extra point after scoring in a driving rainstorm that drenched the crowd and turned the field into a pond. But between the halves the sun shone and President Edel and President Hanson of Gettysburg shook hands in mid-field and the Dickinson frosh defeated the rival frosh in a tug-of-war, 60 men to a team, a new wrinkle to the old athletic rivalry.

The bands played and the climax of the between-the-halves show came when an ambulance with siren screaming raced onto the field, came to a skidding halt in front of the stands. From its doors sprang a crew of Alpha Chi Rhos bearing aloft Old West's storied weathervane, which had disappeared one dark midnight several weeks before.

"Here she is—the most valuable fish in the world," triumphantly exclaimed George Mooradian, leader of the crew, as he thrust the Mermaid, 50 pounds of painted copper and tin, into President Edel's arms. "As a seafaring man yourself, you should know what to do with her." The President smiled happily, held aloft the bosomy symbol of Dickinson tradition and exclaimed, "Glad to pet her back; she's been a part of the College since 1803."

A faculty reception in South College followed the game. Buffet suppers in the fraternity houses and the traditional ball in the Alumni Gym ended the "day." For several years the fraternities have been competing in elaborate lawn displays at Homecoming. Kappa Sigma's entry, featuring a huge replica of "Bulwark of Liberty," the new Dickinson book, was picked by the judges for first prize.

Lehigh Valley Club Meets

The second annual dinner of the Dickinson Club of Lehigh Valley was held in the Hotel Bethlehem, Bethlehem, Pa., on November 9 with 47 present. William S. Johnson, '33, retiring president, acted as toastmaster.

The Reverend Michael F. Davis, '17, was elected president and Charles F. Irwin, Jr., '27, was named vice-president. Mrs. Joseph Baker, the former Alva M. Stegmeier, '24, of 822 Third Street, Fullerton, Pa., was elected secretary-treasurer, succeeding Mrs. Emma B. Weaver, '26. Walter L. Sandercock, '31, Joseph G. Hildenberger, '33, and William A. Steckel, '42, were elected members of the executive committee.

C. Wendell Holmes, president of the General Alumni Association, attended his first alumni club dinner since his election. The speakers from the College were George Shuman, Jr., treasurer; Dr. Rowland R. Lehman, assistant to the president; President William W. Edel, and Vice-President Gilbert Malcolm.

Receives Fine Appointment

Dr. Francis R. Manlove, '34, for some years a member of the faculty of Hahnemann Medical College in Philadelphia, has been named assistant secretary of the Council of Medical Education and Hospitalization with offices at 535 Dearborn Street, Chicago. He moved with his family in August and is now living at 1045 Ashland Avenue, Wilmette, Ill.

Takes Post When Dean of Women Marries



MRS. MARY MARGARET KELLOGG



MRS. PHOEBE FOLLMER BACON

MRS. Mary Margaret Kellogg, wife of Prof. Charles F. Kellogg of the faculty, became acting dean of women at the College on November 1, when she assumed the duties of Dean Phoebe Follmer whose marriage to John F. Bacon, '38, a former director of the Dickinson College Development Program, took place last month.

Dean Follmer is on a leave of absence for the balance of the academic year. She and Mr. Bacon, a lieutenant commander in the Naval Reserve, were married on November 11 in the Methodist Church of Milton, Pa., and shortly thereafter they went to San Diego, Calif., where Mr. Bacon reported for active duty on November 29. He was ordered to Guam. His bride has been dean of women since July, 1949.

Mrs. Kellogg, a native of Baltimore, has a background of teaching and administrative experience. She taught at the Maret School, Washington, D. C., for four years and prior to her marriage in 1946 was the custom service secretary in the New York City world office of International Business Machines.

A graduate of Wilson Teachers College, Washington, D. C., she studied also at the University of Maryland, George Washington University, Strayer College and the Berlitz School of Language.

Mrs. Kellogg has been active in women's organizations in Carlisle. Her husband, an assistant professor of history, came to the College in 1946.

Recalled to Active Air Duty

Colonel Richard H. Ellis, '41, '50L, one of the outstanding bomber pilots in the Pacific in World War II, was recalled to active duty with the U. S. Air Force in October and reported at Langley Field.

A member of the inactive Air Force Reserve, he graduated from the Law School in June and had just passed his bar examinations. He was associated with Southerland, Berl & Potter, law firm of Wilmington, Del.

One of the few men of the air force to reach the rank of colonel at 25 years of age, in 1945, Colonel Ellis served as the deputy chief of staff of the Far East Air Forces under General George C. Kenney.

Honor Theologian At Special Convocation

A VICTOR MURRAY, president of Cheshunt College, Cambridge University, and a noted churchman and theologian, received the honorary degree of Doctor of Sacred Theology from the College at a special convocation on September 19.

Dr. Murray had come to America late in the summer to deliver a series of lectures and to attend the meeting of the World Council of Churches in Toronto as the representative of a number of English churches. In May, 1949, he and his faculty entertained President William W. Edel when the latter, enroute home from Israel, stopped off at Cheshunt to return a visit made by Dr. Murray to Dickinson in 1947.

In conferring the degree after Dr. Lewis Guy Rohrbaugh of the faculty had presented the candidate, President Edel told Dr. Murray that he presided over an institution with which Dickinson not only "cherishes friendly relations but shares a long and illutrious tradition." Cheshunt, first Methodist college in the world, was founded by John Wesley and the Countess of Huntingdon in 1768, five years before the founding of Dickinson, oldest Methodist related college in America.

Dr. Murray holds earned degrees from Oxford and Cambridge and has taught at a number of English colleges. He is professor emeritus of education at University College, Hull, and since 1945 has been the president of Cheshunt. He has had positions of leadership in many church bodies and writes widely on religious and social subjects.

Addressing the convocation on the subject "The Redemption of Science," he declared that man must keep enslaved the machines produced by his mastery of science. "If machines become the master, they will destroy rather than ameliorate and the world will be headed for trouble and destruction," he said. He remarked that it may be significant of this genera-



Dr. A. Victor Murray after receiving from President William W. Edel the honorary degree of Doctor of Sacred Theology.

tion that on discovery of atomic energy, it was applied immediately to destruction. Dr. Murray felt that ideas, passions and illusions will continue to dominate life in spite of rapid strides in scientific discovery.

Present Reese Portrait

A portrait of the late Judge Fred S. Reese, member of the law school faculty, was presented last month by the Cumberland County Bar Association to Cumberland County and now hangs in the court house.

The portrait, the work of Wilbur Fiske Noyes, noted Boston artist, was presented in ceremonies held in the court room. Mark E. Garber, '19, president of the bar association presided. Judge E. M. Biddle, Jr., '86, made the presentation address and Judge Dale F. Shughart, '34, made the speech of acceptance. Dean W. H. Hitchler made the memorial address.

Another Alumnus Becomes Governor of Pennsylvania

JUDGE John S. Fine, '14L, a fine student, a good lawyer and an able jurist, was elected Governor of Pennsylvania in the November elections and will

take office in January.

From the days when he collected laundry and was a solicitor of dry cleaning to help defray his expenses through the Law School, he has been a devoted Dickinsonian. He is a past-president of the Dickinson Club of Northeastern Pennsylvania and is a Trustee of the Law School.

Two Governors of Pennsylvania appointed him, and he was thrice elected to the county and state courts. He became Luzerne County Common Pleas Judge, first by Governor Pinchot's appointment and then by two elections; similarly, he was Governor Duff's choice for Judge of the Pennsylvania Superior Court and was elected to a full term in 1947. He resigned that post when he became the Republican party's candidate for governor this year.

That he was one of the youngest judges ever chosen in Pennsylvania has its parallels in the facts that at 23 years of age he was also the youngest chairman of the Fourth Legislative District of Luzerne County and later the youngest Luzerne County Chairman of the Re-

publican Party at 29.

An active churchman, for years he has been Senior Warden of St. George's Episcopal Church, Nanticoke, where he resides. For many years until his death, the late Rev. Henry Rasmussen-Taxdal, '16, was Judge Fine's rector. In 1943, he was delegate to the Third Province Synod of the Protestant Episcopal Church meeting in Baltimore and he is now in his second year as Vice President of the Pennsylvania Council of Churches.

Born on April 10, 1893 in the coal mining community of Alden, Pa., the new Governor was one of eleven children and knew no spare hours as a boy. His educational progress was through public school to Dickinson Law School where



GOVERNOR JOHN S. FINE

he made an enviable record as a student and graduated in 1914. At the end of his World War I service, he studied at Trinity College, University of Dublin, Ireland.

Admitted to the bar in 1915, his practice was interrupted by his enlistment in the Army in May, 1917, a month after the United States entered world conflict. He served more than two years and spent a year with the A.E.F. as a sergeant of the Twenty-Third Army Engineers. Returning from that service, he resumed the practice of law in Nanticoke and Wilkes-Barre until his appointment as Luzerne County Judge. In 1936 he was Republican delegate-at-large to the National Convention in Cleveland.

The Governor is a member of the Pennsylvania Bar Association and a member of the Committee for Judicial Administration of the American Bar Association. His other activities include: Trustee, Dickinson School of Law; Trustee, Wilkes College; Trustee, Wilkes-Barre Day School; Vice Chairman, Committee on Law and Order, Pennsylvania Department of the American Legion; Vice President, Pennsylvania Council of

Churches; Director, First National Bank of Nanticoke; twice Chairman of American Red Cross, Nanticoke area campaign; Chairman of Cancer Campaign for Nanticoke City and its metropolitan area.

He is a member of the Veterans of Foreign Wars, American Legion, Fraternal Order of Eagles, B. P. O. Elks, Loyal Order of Moose, Junior O. U. A. M., Knights of Pythias, P. O. S. of A., and the Masonic orders.

The Governor's father, J. W. Fine, and mother, Margaret Croop Fine are deceased. Married to Helene P. Morgan, they are the parents of two sons, John S. and Donald F. Fine.

Has Sense of Humor

William A. ("Legs") Gunter, '13, was elected Attorney General of Maryland in November but he apparently had a lot of fun. Under the heading "Candidate Lost Everything But His Sense of Humor," The New York Times carried the following special dispatch:

CUMBERLAND, Md., Nov. 6—William Gunter, Cumberland attorney, has had an unusually rugged time campaigning for the job of Attorney General of Maryland.

Appearing with his Republican running mates for Governor and United States Senator at scores of political affairs, he has endorsed them heartily but reportedly did not say anything for himself.

He closed out his campaign today with this statement: "I got into this for a change and a rest. I find the bellhops got all my change and the hotels got the rest. In Montgomery County I lost my hat. In a Hotel in Salisbury I lost my pajamas. In Washington County I lost my hairbrush. In Grantsville I lost my voice."

"But I haven't lost my sense of humor," he said. "I've really had a lot of fun."

Leads to Victory

With Samuel W. Witwer, Jr., '30, Chicago attorney and Trustee of the College, as chairman of the non-partisan Illinois Committee for Constitution Revision, a campaign for the passage of The Gateway Amendment was carried in the November elections by one of the largest pluralities in the history of the State.

The Gateway Amendment, which required a majority of all votes cast for passage, which had been the stumbling block in past attempts, was passed by the voters in the sixth attempt since 1892.

With an estimated state vote of 3,650,000, more than 1,825,000 "Yes" votes were required and even before all of the returns were in, more than 2,000,000 "Yes" votes had been recorded.

The campaign for passage of the amendment, which permits changes to be made in the state constitution, began a year ago with the formation of the non-partisan committee headed by Mr. Witwer. In the victory, he said, "The amendment is only the first step in a continuing effort for constitutional revision which will require years to complete. However, the doors now have been opened."

Dean Thompson Improving

Dean Russell I. Thompson is showing marked improvement in his convalescence from the cerebral operation he underwent last July. He has regained much of the weight he lost during his illness, has been able to walk unaided for some time and recently drove his car again with ease. He will probably return to his work at the college during the next semester.

Serves as Representative

Herbert S. Reisler, '16, again served as the representative of the College at an academic occasion. He was the delegate to the 100th anniversary of the founding of Heidelberg College in Tiffan, Ohio, on November 11. He is associated with the Travelers, Hartford, Conn., insurance firm, at the branch office in Toledo.

Death Claims Former Alumni Association Treasurer

THE Rev. Dr. Harry B. Stock, '91, fifty years pastor of St. Paul's Lutheran Church, Carlisle, and for many years treasurer of the General Alumni Association, died at his home adjoining Conway Hall after a long heart illness on October 1. He retired as pastor of St. Paul's in 1946 when he was named

pastor emeritus.

Following his graduation from the college, Dr. Stock taught in the public schools of Carlisle for two years and then entered Gettysburg Theological Seminary. When he graduated there in 1896 he was asked to become pastor of the Second German Lutheran Church. then located at Bedford and Pomfret Streets in a building now used by the Salvation Army. At first he demurred but accepted when the congregation agreed to change the name of the Church, the language and the location of the building. Thus began his half century in his only pastorate in his native Carlisle.

By court action the name of the Church was changed, a building site was selected, the old structure sold and the present church at West and Louther Streets was erected. First a chapel was built and other parts erected until 1907 when the present edifice was dedicated. Then in 1923 a mortgage-burning ceremony saw the end of indebtedness. In November of that same year, Clara Leaman, '13, became St. Paul's own missionary to India when the congregation voted to support her in that field.

The statistical records for his half century attest to the busy pastorate of Dr. Stock. The congregation grew from 45 in 1896 to 920 in 1946. In that time he received 751 by certificate; by confirmation, 580; by adult baptism, 365; by profession of faith, 195, for total accessions of 1871. He administered Holy Baptism to 790 infants, performed 541 marriages and conducted 1356 funerals.

Yet Dr. Stock found time to be active in the affairs of the community, college



DR. HARRY B. STOCK

and his fraternity, Beta Theta Pi, of which he was treasurer of the Alpha Sigma Chapter House Association for many years. He served as a director of the Bosler and Hamilton Libraries, a director of the Y. M. C. A. and one time president of the Board. He was active in the Carlisle High School Alumni Association, a member of the Kiwanis Club and a leader in Community Chest and every beneficial community effort.

Born in Carlisle on September 3, 1871, he graduated from the Carlisle High School in 1886 and then attended Dickinson Preparatory School for one year. He received his A.B. from the College in 1891 and three years later the M.A. He graduated from theological seminary in 1896 with a B.D. degree and in 1908 Dickinson College conferred upon him the honorary degree of doctor of divinity.

Prominent in the affairs of the Lutheran Church, Dr. Stock was elected secretary of the West Pennsylvania Synod in 1902 serving until 1904 and from 1920 to 1922 he was its president. In 1923 he was elected a director of the Board of the Seminary at Gettysburg and a year later secretary of the board. From 1918

to 1925 he was a member of the Board of Home Missions and Church Extension of the United Lutheran Church in America. For years he served as statistical secretary and chief executive officer of the Cumberland County Sunday School Association.

Services were held in St. Paul's Lutheran Church on October 5, with the Rev. Elmer P. Truchses, pastor, officiating and burial was made in the Old Graveyard. On October 8, the congregation held a memorial service in the morning and a community service was held in the evening at which Allan D. Thompson, '07, editor of The Sentinel paid the community tribute; Gilbert Malcolm made the college tribute and the Rev. Albert E. Shenberger spoke as president of the Ministerial Association.

61 Law Graduates Pass Bar Exams

CIXTY-ONE graduates of the Dickinon School of Law passed the Pennsylvania State Bar examinations given in July. This number represents 75 per cent of the total group from the Law School who took the examinations and includes 19 alumni of the College. Although exceeded by the Law School on a number of occasions in the past, the percentage was regarded as very good and enhances the reputation of the School for effective training for the Pennsylvania

Bar examinations.

College alumni in the successful group are: Thomas E. Munce, Jr., '39, William H. C. Keen, '45, Franklin C. Brown, '47, John L. Sweezy, Jr., '48, and Charles R. Welsh, Jr., '50, all of Harrisburg; Thomas H. Lane, '47, Newville; Norman L. Levin, '48, Lewistown; Robert E. Horner, '47, Camp Hill; George F. Young, '50, McKeesport; William George, '48, Minersville; Joseph Ammerman, '48, Curwensville, '48; Wilbert McKim, '47, Elwood City; Joseph Barlock, '48, Wilkes-Barre; Charles Coslett, '50, Kingston; Clyde Carpenter, Jr., '48, Jersey Shore; George Douglas, '50, Philadelphia; William J. Cudding, '48, Brandonville; Warren Spencer, '48, Wellsboro, and Oliver Hormell, '48, California, Pa.

Others in the Law School list are: Samuel Raffensperger, Arendtsville; Clement Tillman, Pittsburgh; Alvin Woerle, Reading; Miss Mary Casanave, Altoona; William Quinn, Lansford; Edward Chaery, DuBois; Joseph Lee, Clearfield; Robert O'Connor, Renova; Max Follmer, Berwick; Robert Stauffer and William Sunday, Mechanicsburg; John Dowling, Arthur Goldberg and Mark Holtzman, all of Harrisburg; Walter Shearer, New Cumberland; Merle Gornall and James Hanes, Erie; Thomas Humelsine and Jeffrey Conn, Chambersburg; Thomas Jones and John Morano, Scranton; Clark Burke, Wilkes-Barre; Bartell Ecker, Hazleton.

Paul Reeder and Otho Vanderlin, Williamsport; Harry Thatcher, Lewistown; Emil Brose, Long Island City, N. Y.; William Otten, Easton; John McCamley, Philipsburg; William McLaughlin, Carlisle; Vram Nedurian and Miss Catherine Shepherd, Philadelphia; Ralph Yardley, Yardley; Joseph Jones, Tremont; Joseph Kreder, Seltzer City; Robert Maurer, Minersville; Kenneth Lee, Meshoppen; Gavlord Greenlee, Bentleyville; Davis Yohe, Finleyville; Frank Ezerski, Monessen, and George Elsesser, Elmer Morris and William Wise, all of York.

Edits Manual of Grasses

Paul D. Olejar, '28, is chief editor of the Bureau of Plant Industry, Soils, and Agricultural Engineering, of the United States Department of Agriculture. He lives in Baltimore.

Under his editorship, the Department has recently published the Manual of Grasses of the United States. This is a revision of the original manual issued in 1935, containing about 1,200 illustrations and virtually all the known and described grasses.

Receives Leadership Award In Apple Industry

JOHN B. PETERS, '22, of Gardners, Pa., orchardist and fruit processing executive, who is a member of a large three-generation family of Dickinsonians, has been designated by the National Apple Institute as "the man who contributed most to the apple industry in 1950."

The Institute's annual award, an engraved silver bowl, for "outstanding leadership and service" was presented to Peters at the annual convention in Boston. His wife, the former Mary E. Koller, '26, witnessed the presentation which was made at the convention bandust

quet

Peters, a large orchard owner, is vice president of Knouse Foods Cooperative, Inc., which operates four processing plants and has several hundred grower members in the rich Appalachian apple belt in southern Pennsylvania, Maryland, Virginia and West Virginia. The cooperative's processed products—apples, cherries and tomatoes—are sold nationally under the brand name "Lucky Leaf."

Long a leader in farm alliance work, Peters was one of the organizers of the cooperative in 1948. He is also the president of the Cooperative Fruit Growers of Adams County and serves on the executive committees of the National Cherry Institute and the Pennsylvania Organization of Agricultural Cooperatives. He is a member of the Methodist Church and the Carlisle Rotary Club. His college fraternity is Kappa Sigma.

But to fellow alumni, Peters is probably best known as the member of a loyal family of the College having connections with 12 or more Dickinsonians. Two of his sons, John F. and William K., are students at the College and a daughter, Mary K., was graduated last June. His father, the late Earl Peters, was a member of the Class of 1909. An uncle, George Peters, New Kensington, Pa., is in the same class. Eleanor F. Peters Bower, '34, wife of Hiram V. Bower, '34, Williamsport, Pa., is a sister



JOHN B. PETERS

and Mrs. Eva Peters Hanning, '17, wife of Dr. George T. Hanning, '11, Wilmington, Del., is an aunt. A number of other relatives are in this Dickinson family.

Undergoes Severe Operation

Assistant Professor Daniel A. Zaret, teacher of Russian and Spanish in the Department of Modern Languages, was operated upon last month in Jefferson Hospital, Philadelphia, for the removal of a ruptured spinal disc. He is convalescing at his home and will probably return to teaching at the opening of the next semester in February. He may have suffered the injury in a fall while playing tennis or in another fall when demonstrating a Russian dance before one of his classes in South College.

At St. John's Inauguration

The Rev. Dr. J. Luther Neff, '15, pastor of Calvary Methodist Church, Annapolis, Md., was the representative of the College at the inauguration of Richard Daniel Weigle, as president of St. John's College in Annapolis, on October 28.

Football Team Wins Three And Drops Four

THE 1950 Dickinson football team failed to win any of its big ones in dropping four of the seven games on the schedule but produced one of the leading individual scorers in the state and until falling apart against Johns Hopkins in the very last contest was among the defensive leaders as well. All in all, it was not a bad record for young Frank Maze in his first season as head coach and Ben Coren and John Steckbeck, his assistants.

A pair of juniors, Wilbur Gobrecht, halfback, and John Mathewson, quarterback, turned in performances that stand with the best in Dickinson grid annals. With 72 points on 12 touchdowns, Gobrecht led all Pennsylvania college scorers at the end of the team's short season. He yielded in the final 1950 standing only to F. and M.'s Jack Lowder, who had the benefit of a longer schedule.

Gobrecht's total matched the Dickinson individual record set by Sammy Padjen in the undefeated season of 1937. The 172-pound back was placed by INS on its all-state second team, by AP on its third team and by undefeated F. and

M. on its all-opponent eleven.

Mathewson, whose reputation as a passer made him a marked man in every game, completed 11 aerials for touchdowns, a record excelled only by the great Doug Rehor before the war. The fact that the line was not able to give him the protection afforded by the strong 1949 team made his feat all the more noteworthy. He also contributed the longest touchdown run of the season when he got away for 82 yards against rugged Western Maryland.

At season's end two fine seniors, John Lyter, fullback, and Larry Stevens, tackle, were elected 1950 honorary co-captains by the 30 players who had won varsity D's. In the letter group were 11 seniors,

13 juniors and six sophomores.

A good freshman team, coached by
Oscar Meneses, of last year's varsity de-

	1950 10011	oall Record
Dick	cinson	
25		ove City (
0	F.	and M.
39	Ur	sinus (
13	W	
26	Jur	niata (
6	Ge	ttysburg
19	Jol	nns Hopkins 33
128		8:

feated White Hill School and Western Maryland frosh and lost close games to Gettysburg and F. and M. frosh and

Mercersburg Academy.

The varsity got off winging in its opener against Grove City on Biddle Field. One of the two teams to defeat Dickinson the year before, the Grovers never had a chance and, yielding a touchdown in every quarter, were shut out, 25-0.

The next week reserve-deep F. and M. had to go all out to win 7-0 in a great defensive game. It was the closest squeeze of an undefeated season for the victors, who got their lone score in the second quarter on a neat double reverse from 23 yards out. Dickinson's Clem Jablonski got off on a long run but was nailed from behind just when it seemed that he would go all the way. Later F. and M. had to make a great stand to repulse Dickinson on the 12-yard line.

With Gobrecht counting four times, Dickinson ran up its largest score since 1937 in defeating Ursinus at Collegeville, 39-6. But it was a costly victory from the standpoint of injuries and the team was in the poorest shape of the season for the game the next week with Western Maryland, which scored twice in the first two minutes of play and went on to win, 29-13, in an upset.

Rebounding from that unexpected defeat, the team had too much in all respect for Juniata. Mathewson threw three touchdown passes, one of them a

50-yard toss to James Bowers.

Then came Homecoming and Gettysburg. The largest crowd on Biddle Field in a decade witnessed this rain-drenched renewal of the old rivalry after an eightyear lapse. The Bullets, in their usual role of victor, capitalized on a freak break to win, 7-6. A fumbled ball by Mathewson that skidded backward 25 yards in the mud to the Dickinson four set up the Gettysburg touchdown in the second quarter. A specialist kicked the extra point that was to decide the issue.

Rain fell in cloudburst proportions in

the third quarter during Dickinson's 80-yard touchdown drive in ankle-deep mud. Mathewson scored on a short plunge. John Lashley, a sophomore, attempted the extra point but was unable to lift the ball out of the mud. In the dying moments Dickinson drove courageously for 60 yards to the 15 where Lashley failed in a field goal attempt.

The team was not up for the finale the next week with Johns Hopkins at Baltimore and after exchanging three touchdowns with the Blue Jays was finally outdistanced, 33 to 19. The Dickinson Club of Baltimore had the team as guests at a dinner following the game.

Expect Good Season on Basketball Courts

SHORT on good reserves and hit hard by injuries, the 1950-51 basketball team dropped two of its first three games but better things are expected after the first of the year when the squad will be at full strength again. Defeats by Swarthmore and Albright were followed by a victory over Western Maryland.

Coach Charles "Chick" Kennedy in his fourth season at the helm has four hold-overs from last year's good team and a fine sophomore prospect in William Stark, Camden, N. J., but capable replacements so much needed in this era of speedup basketball are lacking.

The veterans who will have to carry the burden are John Slike and Elwood Long, seniors and co-captains, and Richard Zilling and William Kinsella, juniors. Great things are expected of Zilling on the basis of his play last year when he led the team in scoring with 320 points, only nine short of Johnny Hopper's one-season record.

Slike and Kinsella were on the bench with injuries when Dickinson opened the season in an exhibition game with Swarthmore in York, Pa., on a community charity program there. The Little Quakers won that one, 72-58, largely on a tremendous edge in height. Zilling gave a sparkling demonstration in set shots and finished with 22 points.

Albright with a great team was an 81-55 winner at Reading the next week. Kinsella returned for that game and helped materially with 16 points. In the first home game of the season the team completely outclassed Western Maryland, held a 33-13 edge at halftime and coasted to a 55-47 victory.

Co-Captain Ślike, who suffered a broken finger in a pre-season scrimmage, will see his first action after the Christmas holidays. On January 12, in Hartford, Conn., the team will play Trinity in the first appearance of a Dickinson basketball team in New England. Upsala and Carnegie Tech are the only other new teams on the schedule.

Weston Overholt is coaching what appears at this early date to be an un-

usually strong freshman squad.

The balance of the varsity schedule from the first of the year follows: Jan. 5, F. and M., away; Jan. 12, Trinity, away; Jan. 13, Wagner, away; Jan. 31, Juniata, home; Feb. 2, Carnegie Tech, home; Feb. 3, Elizabethtown, away; Feb. 7, Gettysburg, home; Feb. 10, Upsala, home; Feb. 14, Johns Hopkins, home; Feb. 17, F. and M., home; Feb. 21, Gettysburg, away; Feb. 24, Susquehanna, home; Feb. 27, Elizabethtown, home; Mar. 1, Albright, home; Mar. 3, Bucknell, home.

Writes About Calculus



PROF. FRANK AYRES, JR.

A book on mathematics by Dr. Frank Ayres, Jr., his second, was published in October by the Schaum Publishing Company, New York, under the title Schaum's Outline of Theory and Problems of Differential and Integral Calculus.

The 232-page book is divided into 64 chapters, each containing a brief summary of definitions, principles and theorems, followed by a graded set of solved problems. The total number of such

problems is 974.

It is intended as a supplement to formal classroom texts, and its purpose is to provide students of elementary calculus with a collection of carefully solved representative problems. It is intended also to be of service to students of science and engineering who feel the need for a review of the fundamental theory and problem work of calculus.

Dr. Ayres, who occupies the Susan Powers Hoffman chair of mathematics at the College, is also the author of Basic Mathematics for Aviation, published in 1943 by Houghton Mifflin Company for use in the Air Corps cadet training program. He has written articles for the American Mathematics Monthly and the National Mathematics Magazine.

Appointed Department Chairman

Professor Benjamin D. James, '34, director of admissions and dean of the freshman class, was appointed in September acting chairman of the department of education and psychology to serve until the return of Dean Russell I. Thompson, department head, who is now well along toward full recovery from a severe illness and operation.

Prof. James has taught in the department since joining the faculty in 1941 with the rank of instructor. He was made an associate professor in 1946 upon his return from war service in the Navy and since September, 1947, has been director of admissions and dean of the freshman class, demanding duties he continues to discharge while serving as acting department head.

He has a Master's degree from Bucknell University and has done graduate work at the University of Pennsylvania

for his doctorate.

Heads Plastics Company

Edward W. Danien, '30, is president of the Precision Plastics Company, Stanton Avenue, Philadelphia, and is listed in the "Who's Who" of the plastics industry.

Following his graduation from the College, he attended South Jersey Law School and then was in the purchasing department of RCA and then with another company before he played his part in the organization of the Precision Plastics Company, of which he is now president, in 1938. He became president of the company in 1941. During World War II, he taught plastics at Temple University.

His company employs several hundred men and women and manufactures many articles made of plastics. Included are toys, combs, buttons for the dress goods trade, coat hangers, and bases for light-

ing fixtures.

He married Miss Florence Bass in October 1939. They have two children, Shelley Karen, born October 3, 1942, and Marshall John, born August 9, 1945.

Back In the Navy

Dorothy V. Reeve, '36, attorney of Toms River, N. J., is back on duty with the United States Navy with the rank of lieutenant stationed at the Communications Station in Washington, D. C. She served throughout World War II and returned to duty again in October but usually spends her weekends at her home in Toms River.

Ends Term In Congress

The oft repeated question "Where will we get the money?" may not be heard in Congress after January 1 for the Hon. Robert F. Rich, '07, will be absent. After twenty years as a Pennsylvania Representative, he was not a candidate for reelection this year and his term will end with the present "lame duck" session.

He was first elected to Congress in 1930 and served until 1943. After a year's absence he went back into the legislative halls in 1944.

Enters American Foreign Service

T. Edward Munce, Jr., '39, '50L, was admitted to the bar of the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania in Philadelphia in November and the next day was sworn in as an American Foreign Service Staff Officer in Washington. He and his wife will leave this month for Bombay, India, where he is to be information officer at the office of the American Consulate General in Bombay.

Following his graduation from the College, he spent two years at Harvard University and then served as a captain with the American Field Service from 1942 to 1944 in the Middle East and Italy with the British Eighth Army. From 1944 to 1945, he was at Allied Force Headquarters in the Psychological Warfare Branch in Italy and Austria. In 1946-47, he was a member of the UNRRA Mission to Austria. Returning to this country, he entered the Dickinson School of Law and graduated last June and passed the July bar examinations.

Receives Navy Promotion



Commander Frances E. Willoughby, the first woman to hold the rank of commander in the Medical Corps of the U. S. Navy.

When Frances Lois Willoughby, M.D., '27, was promoted on September 26 to the rank of Commander in the U. S. Navy, she became the first woman medical officer to receive permanent rank of Commander in the U. S. Navy. Her date of rank was placed as January 1950 and the rank was made permanent.

In October 1948 after a little more than four years in the Naval Reserve she was the first woman doctor to be commissioned in the Medical Corps of the U. S. Navy. To mark the occasion the then Secretary of the Navy, the Honorable John L. Sullivan, presented the commission.

Since August 1949 she has been stationed at the U. S. Naval Hospital, Philadelphia, where she is in charge of the psychiatric service. She lives in Pitman, N. J., with her mother.

She is a sister of Dr. Edwin E. Willoughby, '22, of the Folger Shakespeare Library, Washington, D. C., who is on a sabbatical year's leave of absence for study in England. He expects to return to this country next June.

EDITORIAL

What's In A Name?

F the score of buildings owned by the college, only three bear the names of alumni, while the all-inclusive title is used for the Alumni Gymnasium.

Baird Biological Building was named in honor of Spencer Fullerton Baird, Class of 1840, professor, trustee of the college, and one-time Secretary of the Smithsonian Institution.

Conway Hall, a gift from Andrew Carnegie, was named by him as a tribute

to his friend, Moncure D. Conway, Class of 1849.

Bosler Hall when built in 1885 was named in honor of James W. Bosler, Class of 1854, and when rebuilt in 1940-41 the name James W. Bosler Library

was carved in the stone entrance.

William and Mary College in Virginia had already been founded when John Dickinson and Dr. Benjamin Rush were planning the establishment of the college. Benjamin Rush proposed the name "John and Mary's College Over Susquehanna" for our Alma Mater. From this it has been suggested that the new dormitory for women, now being erected, might be called "Mary Dickinson Hall."

Other names have been proposed by various persons: Nisbet, Taney, Buchanan, King, Appold, Reed, Morgan and Filler, but these men were not all believers in co-education. Great as his contributions were to the college, the name of the late Lemuel T. Appold, '82, for example, would not appear appropriate on a women's

dormitory to those who knew him best.

The new building may yet bear the name of a donor for even while it is being erected there is the opportunity for some one to give the amount which would merit such honor. Barring that development, the alumni should voice their opinions by letters to the President of the College, suggesting names of their preference for this first major addition to college facilities since 1929 when the Alumni Gymnasium was built.

The Chips Are Down

IN the action of the Trustees in approving a contract for the building of the new dormitory for Women on the Rush Campus at a cost of about \$750,000, the College is committed to one of the first steps of the Ten Year Development Program and the need to secure all the funds for that great project.

The wisdom of the Trustees is fortified by world developments and the probability that the college will need to enroll more women students in the years ahead. With added and better accommodations the college will be able to compete more

favorably than ever before.

From present estimates it is believed that there will be available during the period of erection of the new dormitory of about \$500,000 so that an additional \$250,000 will be needed to meet the costs or to pay loans made during the time of construction. If greater mobilization comes soon, then the male enrollment will be hit and the need will immediately arise for Alumni Fund gifts to provide funds for the actual operation of the college.

There may be days ahead when sacrificial giving may be asked to help the college in hours of need. Right now, the college has to pay for the erection of the dormitory and alumni have the opportunity through their own gifts and in securing the contributions of other friends of education to make it possible next

fall to dedicate a completed dormitory, free of debt.

Life Membership Race Tightens As Total Climbs

W ITH 14 new subscriptions dotting classes from 1885 to 1950, the race for the largest number of Life Members in the General Alumni Association is tightening. The total has reached 967.

The Class of 1934 has now tied 1939 for the leadership in which each has 29 Lifers. The Class of 1950 continues its climb with three new names to draw into a tie with 1926 and a total of 27 each. The Class of 1935 is the only one with 26, and four classes, 1930, 1933, 1941 and 1943 have 25 each. Then follows 1902, long the leader, and 1927 with 24.

While the September number of the magazine was on the press, three subscriptions were received. The first two came from John T. Carpenter, III, and his wife, Lois Barnard Carpenter, both members of the Class of 1950, which sent the newest graduates further up the ladder in Life Membership standing. The third was from Dr. Nathan Asbell, '29, physician of 326 Cooper Street, Camden, N. J.

The first subscription to be received after the mailing of the September number of the magazine, came from James N. Esbenshade, '48, of Route 3, Lan-

caster, Pa.

The same afternoon, a forty dollar check was received from D. Fenton Adams, '47, '49L, who is in his second year as a member of the faculty of the Dickinson School of Law. He is living at 260 South College Street, Carlisle.

At the dinner opening the financial campaign in Philadelphia in October, Ray T. Mentzer, '29, former basketball star and now residing in Havertown, Pa., presented his forty dollar check for Life Membership.

On Columbus Day, a forty dollar check was received from Helen McDonnell, '28, member of the faculty of the State Teachers' College, Edinboro, Pa.

The next subscription came from Benjamin W. McFarren, '09, of 2258 Grandview Avenue, Cleveland 6, Ohio.

The subscription of the Reverend Roy

T. Henwood, '26, sent his class into third place in the Lifer standing. He is superintendent of the Oneonta District of the Wyoming Conference of the Methodist Church and lives in Oneonta, N. Y.

One of the early graduates of the College became a Lifer in October, when a forty dollar check was received from Joseph M. Cummings, of the Class of 1885. For years, he was associated with Loew's Inc. in the Boston Office and he lives at 55 Henry Street, North Quincy 71, Mass.

When he and his wife and their eleven-year-old son, Kent Douglas, came to the College for Homecoming, Duane M. VanWegen, '34, made his subscription to Life Membership. His home is in Youngstown, N. Y., and he is personnel manager of the Stauffer Chemical Company of Niagara Falls. His subscription sent 1934 into a first place tie with 1939 for the largest number of Lifers.

The next subscription came from Miss Arlene D. Mills, '44, of Mount Airy

Road, Basking Ridge, N. J.

Moving the Class of 1943 into contention in the Life Membership Roll, Donald D. Deans, of North Adams, Mass., became a Lifer in November.

Going home from the dinner of the Dickinson Club of New York on December 1, C. Grant Smith, '50, mailed his \$40 check to send the newest class

near the top of the ladder.

Life Membership costs \$40, and if desired may be paid in \$10 or \$20 installments. Checks should be made payable to Dickinson College and mailed to The Dickinson Alumnus, Carlisle, Pa.

In Sorority Work

Mrs. James A. Muffly, the former Miriam Faust, '27, of Lewisburg, Pa., is serving as Gamma Province President of Zeta Tau Alpha. Her district covers the New England States, New York, New Jersey, Delaware, Pennsylvania, and West Virginia.

Trustee, Father of Four Dickinsonians, Dies

R OBERT A. FEROE, trustee, four of whose seven sons attended the College, died on October 31 after suffering a cerebral hemorrhage in his office at Pottstown, Pa., at the age of 64. Mr. Feroe, who rose from patternmaker to owner of the Pottstown Paper Box Company and the Penn Paper Box Company in Reading, built other business landmarks in Pottstown and was a leader of church, service, and fraternal organizations.

He is the father of Robert A. Feroe, Jr., '31, Melvin L. Feroe, '33, William H., '38, and Nelson Shepherd, '39. These sons, his wife, and three other sons, Russell H., president of the Reading firm, Barton K., of Lancaster, and Richard H.,

of Ardmore, survive.

For 21 years, he had sons in attendance either at the Hill School or Dickinson

College or some other college.

A district lay leader of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference, he was one of the organizers of the Pottstown Rotary Club and also the Chamber of Commerce there. An active Mason, he held memberships in both the York Rite and Scottish Rite bodies in Pottstown and in

Reading.

Born in Delanco, N. J., his family moved to Philadelphia, where his father died when he was a boy. He then attended the Williamson Free School of Mechanical Trades in Media. there, he developed a keen interest in track and was a stellar performer for that school and for a number of years afterwards. After owning an interest in a small paper box factory in Camden, N. J., he moved to Pottstown in 1912, where he founded the paper box company and also the Feroe Press, which for some years has printed the College Catalogue. In recent years, he turned the ownership of his business interest to his sons, who formed the Seven Sons Corporation.

Mr. Feroe was first elected to the Board of Trustees in 1932 and at the time of his death was serving a term

expiring in 1953.



ROBERT A. FEROE

Honored for Air Service

In recognition of his outstanding service to the National Air Force Association, Randall Leopold, '25, of Lewistown, Pa., was presented with a plaque at the organization's annual convention in Boston last summer. He also was elected a director of the national association, while his wife was elected a national councilor of the auxiliary. He is now in his second term as wing commander of the Pennsylvania Air Force Association. He is a Chevrolet dealer in Lewistown.

In addition to his interest in the Air Force Association, Mr. Leopold is president of the Lewistown Rotary Club, chairman of the Mifflin County Military Manpower Committee, president of the Mifflin County Veterans' Council and commander of Post 1667, Veterans of

Foreign Wars.

He is a director of both the Lewistown Red Cross Chapter and the Russell National Bank. He is a member of the Boy Scout Executive Council for four counties, steering chairman of the Civilian Defense organization and General Motors community chairman.

PERSONALS

1895

The Reverend Louis Hieb, pastor of the Congregational shared a cabin with the Reverend Stanley D. Crossland, '21, of Beloit, Wis., for a month during the last summer at a "Western Pastor's School" held at Colorado Springs, Colo.

1902

While on a visit of a few days to Carlisle, General James G. Steese was the speaker at the College Chapel on October 17. He leaves this country this month on a trip to Africa.

1903

Mrs. Robert Y. Stuart, of Pottstown, Pa., was married to Ervin M. Davis, of Port Byron, N. Y., on October 15 in the Greenstone Presbyterian Church, Nottingham, Pa. Her son-in-law, the Reverend Paul E. Morris, performed the ceremony.

1905

Clara W. Teale, wife of Edward L. Teale, of Interlaken, N. Y., died suddenly on September 22. Mrs. Teale was a graduate of Cornell University, a member of the D. A. R. and Eastern Star.

1908

Charles R. Todd was re-elected vice-president of the Carlisle Deposit Bank and Trust Company at the annual meeting held on November 22.

Eleanor L. Uhland, who has been a history teacher in the Carlisle High School for the past 38 years, retired in October because of the illness of her sister.

1913

Dr. Raymond B. Whitmoyer has retired after many years as a member of the faculty of the high school at Atlantic City, N. J., and is now making his home at Hughesville, Pa.

1915

President William W. Edel addressed several hundred young businessmen at a banquet during the state-wide meeting of the Pennsylvania Junior Chamber of Commerce, September 15-16, in Harrisburg. His subject was "The Bulwark of Liberty."

1917

Mrs. Louise Billingslea Grahame Courtney, the wife of Berkeley Courtney, died suddenly of a heart condition on March 9, 1950, at their residence, 20 Murray Hill Circle, Baltimore 12, Md. She was the daughter of Thomas J. and Gertrude Smith Grahame of Baltimore County, Md., and was 54 years old at the time of her death. A graduate nurse of the Hospital for Women of Maryland, she was engaged in Red Cross work and other charitable and religious activities. Only Mr. Courtney survives her.

1919

For years, the alumni records and Alumni Directory has carried the name, Anna M. Bell, with the address, Duncannon, Pa. It has recently been found that she was married on December 27, 1927, to Robert M. Richmond, of Brockton, Mass., an alumnus of Boston University. She has two daughters, Jeanne Delano Richmond, born May 7, 1930, and Carey Bell Richmond, born February 7, 1932. The Richmonds now reside at 326 Broxton Road, Baltimore, Md.

1922

Mrs. T. H. Hazlehurst, the former Edith Blackburn, is now head matron at the Bethany Orphans' Home in Womelsdorf, Pa., and has moved from Bethlehem.

The Rev. Lawrence Warren is pastor of the Marengo Avenue Methodist Church in Alhambra, Calif.

1923

Mrs. Florence Williams Smith, wife of the Reverend Dr. Alexander K. Smith, superintendent of the West District of the Philadelphia Conference of the Methodist Church, died on November 28 in Jefferson Hospital, Philadelphia, after a long illness. She was 47. In addition to her husband, she is survived by a daughter, Mrs. William O. Fulton, of Stewartstown, Pa., and two grandchildren.

1925

Dr. A. Harvey Simmons, physician of Camp Hill, Pa., a member of the 28th Division Medical Corps, was called to active duty with that unit and is serving at Camp Atterbury.

1926

James M. Brennan, Jr., who had been with the Panamerican Sanitary Bureau in Guatamala, is now associated with the Rocky Mountain Laboratory of the United States Public Health Service, Hamilton, Mont.

The Reverend Roy T. Henwood, superin-

tendent of the Oneonta District of the Wyoming Conference of the Methodist Church, received the degree of Master of Arts in History from Boston University on August 19, 1950.

1928

Arthur Markowitz, attorney of York, Pa., who graduated from the Law School in 1930, is the only Pennsylvanian to be appointed a member of the Committee on Bureau Practices and Procedures of the American Bar Association, Section of Taxation. He is now serving as president of the York County Bar Association.

Lieutenant Colonel Alton D. Arnold is in the Adjutant General's Department of the Army. He has been stationed at Fort Meade but was recently assigned to duty in Japan.

Francis E. Mentzer, father of Ray T. Mentzer, of Haverton, Pa., died in the Carlisle Hospital on September 15 following a stroke.

Donald K. Bonney, former principal of schools at Hummelstown, Pa., is now principal of the high school in Franklin,

Hester F. Cunningham, art instructress at the Upper Darby Junior High School, won \$150 in two prizes in the 1950 International Textile Exhibition at the Women's College, University of North Carolina, last month. She won a first and third place in the printed fabrics division against entries from all over the world-receiving \$100 first prize and \$50 for third.

1930

Mrs. George W. Drawbaugh, the former Winifred Smith, is now living at Buena

Viesta Avenue, Rumson, New Jersey.

Jack Landis moved from Carlisle in
October to Dallas, Pa., where he had accepted a position as district manager of the Commonwealth Telephone Company.

George W. Atkins has been appointed first assistant district attorney of York

County, Pennsylvania.

Plan For 20 Years

The class of '30 held its twentieth reunion during the Dickinson College Commencement week-end of June 3 and 4. The reunion was climaxed by a banquet at Allenberry, Sunday, June 4, where a delicious turkey dinner, flowers and favors provided an interesting background for the gala event.

Following the banquet, the President, the Rev. Dr. Everett Hallock, presided at the business meeting, during which officers were elected for a twenty-year period. The acting Chaplain, Maxwell Davis, was chosen permanent Chaplain for the class. Other officers elected for a twenty-year period are as follows: President, Everett F. Hallock; Secretary, Alice E. Hackman; Treasurer, J. Edward Nolen; Chairman of the Class Gift Committee, Harold A. Weigel.

Classmates then were presented by President Hallock and each one gave a brief, interesting review of his post-college days.

The most important item of business on the agenda was the discussion of the class gift and classmates were urged by Professor Weigel to make renewed efforts to reach the goal of \$3,000, to be presented to the college on the twenty-fifth anniversary. Suggestions were offered in regard to a choice of memorial. A committee will be chosen to make a survey of college needs and to follow the survey with a report to class members who will be given an opportunity to vote.

The committee for the twentieth reunion consisted of chairmen Harold Weigel, William Johns, Edward Nolen, George Atkins and Alice Hackman.

1931

Sherwood M. Bonney, secretary and treasurer of the Sun Chemical Corporation, has been appointed district chief in Beta Theta Pi Fraternity. The district is number five, which includes the chapters at Columbia

University, Rutgers, and Stevens.

The address of Mrs. Lee H. Nichols, Jr., the former Amelia B. LeFevre, was listed as unknown in the Alumni Directory published a few years ago. Her home is at 1513 Spring Lane, Belview Manor, Wilmington, Del. She was married on October 19, 1934, to Lee H. Nichols, Jr., a graduate of St. John's College. They have a son, Lee H. Nichols, III, born November 25,

Lt. Col. Donald S. Himes is serving with the Quartermaster Section at Army General Headquarters in Tokyo, Japan.

1933

The address of Irvine Dickey has been listed as Oxford, Pa., but for some time he has been living at 2420 Parker Street,

Berkeley, Calif.

The Rev. Frederick W. Reinfurt has been elected president of the Wilkes-Barre District Methodist Ministers' Association. He is in his sixth year as pastor of the Dallas Methodist Church, Dallas, Pa. During the present pastorate, 367 new members have been received and extensive property improvements made. The Reinfurts have three children, Charlyn, Donald, and Frederick Lewis.

Dr. Raymond Shettel, Jr., became as-

sistant superintendent of the Allentown State Hospital, Allentown, Pa., last August.

1934

Philip S. VanHook is an accountant and a teacher at Greer, a children's community, at Hope Farm, Dutchess County, N. Y. This was originally known as Hope Farm when it was incorporated in 1906 and later as the Greer School. It is a nonsectarian community first founded by the Episcopal Church for orphan children and children from broken homes.

H. E. Shortlidge, was promoted to trust officer of the Girard Trust Company, Philadelphia, last month. He received a diploma in June from the Graduate School of Banking at Rutgers University. His thesis, "Pennsylvania Fiduciaries Acting in Other States," was one out of twenty-three accepted for permanent filing in the Rutgers University Library for reference purposes.

Martin O. Kahn has entered the oil industry and is now living in a house he purchased recently at 6816 Staffordshire,

Houston 21, Tex.

Dr. and Mrs. H. Marcus Weitzel, of 68 East King Street, Shippensburg, Pa., announced the birth of a daughter, Emma Kathryn, on October 29. Mrs. Weitzel is the former Emma Kathryn Wentzel.

Dr. and Mrs. John Windsor Bieri, of 1713 Chatham Road, Camp Hill, Pa., announced the birth of their third daughter, Jill Windsor, on May 8. Dr. Bieri is anesthesiologist at the Harrisburg Polyclinic Hospital.

The Rev. Richard B. Townsend is rector of St. Mark's Episcopal Church, Ontario Street at Riverside Avenue, Buffalo 7, N. Y. He began his pastorate there in 1942.

1935

Dr. Whitfield J. Bell, Jr., of the College faculty, was elected a member of the Council of the Pennsylvania Historical Association at its annual meeting in Reading on October

Dr. Thelma M. Smith, assistant professor of English at the College and formerly a member of the faculty at Temple University, was married to Ward L. Miner, of Philadelphia, on October 27 at her apartment, 179 West Louther Street, Carlisle, by Dr. A. B. Horlacher, Dean of Men at the College. Mr. Miner, the son of Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Miner, of Mt. Pleasant, Iowa, is a member of the English Department at Temple University. He holds a master's degree from the University of Chicago and will soon be awarded the degree of Doctor of Philosophy by the University of Pennsylvania. The couple will continue their present teaching positions.

Sidney W. Bookbinder was elected in October as a district commander of the American Legion. It is believed that he is the first Jewish man to be selected for such a post. He practices law in Burlington, N. J., and a testimonial dinner was given in his honor on November 4 in Mount Holly, N. J., when he was installed as the district commander.

Lieutenant Commander James L. McIntire, a member of the Naval Reserves, was called back to active duty in October and assigned to the U. S. Naval and Marine Corps Reserve Training Center in Harrisburg. At the time he was recalled, he was an executive in the Philadelphia office of the Atlantic Refining Company.

1936

Captain Raymond F. Lowery, of Wilkes-Barre, Pa., has been inducted into the federal service and is serving with the 109th Field Artillery of the 28th Division. He is now with the Division at Camp Atterbury, Ind.

The Rev. D. Owen Brubaker became the pastor of the Aldersgate Methodist Church, Mifflintown, Pa., November 1. Prior to going to Mifflintown, he had been pastor of the Lakemont Methodist Church, Altoona, Pa. His new address is 111 North Third Street, Mifflintown, Pa.

Mrs. George D. Grogan, the former Barbara F. Harris, has moved from Springfield, Pa., to 544 South Main Street, Lom-

bard, Ill.

1937

Dr. N. W. Hershner, father of Dr. Newton W. Hershner, Jr., who practiced medicine for more than 41 years in Mechanicsburg, died on October 8 after a two weeks' illness which followed a heart attack.

Mr. and Mrs. Klein F. Gibson, of 618 Orpington Road, Baltimore, Md., announced the birth of a daughter, Alice Louise, on October 26. This is their second child. They have another child, Sherry.

1938

William A. Raiman is employed by Paul W. Snyder, Inc., truckers of Carlisle, and is living at Boiling Springs. On May 10, 1942, he was married to Miss Rosalie Norton, of Washington, D. C. They have a son, William A. Raiman, III, born September 10, 1944.

George T. Macklin, Jr., was promoted early in the Fall to the rank of major and is stationed in Japan in the Counter Intelligence Corps. He has been stationed there for the past three years, having gone to Japan in October 1947. Mrs. Charles H. Frederick, mother of Lieutenant Commander Jackson H. Frederick, died at the Carlisle Hospital on October 16. Commander Frederick is now on duty with the U. S. Navy at Yorktown, Va.

Clarence B. Hendrickson, who teaches at the high school in Lancaster, Pa., received his Master's degree in School Administration from Duke University in September.

Henry C. Remsberg, director of the College Band, has moved into a new house which he purchased recently at 560 West North Street.

Elizabeth S. Michaels, who has been on the staff at Swarthmore College since 1946, so now secretary to the vice president in charge of public relations and alumni affairs there.

1939

Mr. and Mrs. Harry E. Mangle have announced the birth of their third child, David Walter Mangle, on October 3. They now have two sons and a daughter. The father is field scout executive of the Boy Scouts of America with offices in Milton, Pa. This office serves Northumberland, Union and Snyder Counties.

Mr. and Mrs. Allen M. Flickinger, 100 Wood Street, Harrisburg, announced the birth of a son, Allen Bradley Flickinger, on June 9. They also have a daughter, Jo-Beth, 4 years old. Mrs. Flickinger is the

former Gladys Hallman.

H. Brown Fry was married to Miss Bertha C. Partner, daughter of the late Mr. and Mrs. Russell G. Partner, of Mifflin, Pa., in the First Presbyterian Church, Carlisle, on November 9. Mrs. Fry is secretary to the director of the Bureau of Vital Statistics in the Pennsylvania Department of Health. Mr. Fry, who graduated from the Law School and is a member of the Juniata County Bar, served for four years in Europe with the Army Air Force. The couple now reside in Mifflintown, Pa.

Mr. and Mrs. Gilbert Hertzler, of R. D. 4, Carlisle, announced the birth of a daughter, Nancy Lee, on November 19.

1940

Mr. and Mrs. J. Pearce Davenport, of 4501 Kathland Avenue, Baltimore, Md., announced the birth of a daughter, Deborah Catherine, on August 31. Davenport is with the Claim Department of the Maryland Casualty Company and is located in their home office.

Dr. Paul L. Gorsuch, of San Antonio, Tex., has been appointed to a fellowship and on December 1 entered the Department of Surgery at the Hospital at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia.

Chief Petty Officer Robert C. Dietz, USN son of George C. Dietz, '14, and Mrs. Dietz' was married to Miss Helena deCarto Leite. daughter of Ozorio deCarto Leite, of Rio de Janerio, in the First Evangelical United Brethren Church in Mechanicsburg, Pa., on October 28. The bride was formerly a teacher of English in the American School of Rio de Janerio and is a graduate of the Mallet Soares High School and Urslines College for Girls, both in Rio de Janerio. Chief Petty Officer Dietz enlisted shortly before World War II began and was at Pearl Harbor when war was declared. He recently attended the Radarman's School in Norfolk, Va., and will soon leave on another tour of foreign duty.

J. J. Bunting, Jr., is the author of an article on Alfred E. Garvil, a British theologian, in the Autumn number of Religion

and Life.

Harry F. Houdeshell, Jr., is now on his second enlistment in the Navy and is also minister of music in the Arlington Baptist Church with six choirs under his direction. He is also a candidate for his master's degree in music at the University of Pennsylvania.

1941

Dr. Marshall D. Jackson is now serving with the Medical Corps at Brooke Army Hospital, Fort Sam Houston, Tex.

Richard F. Weimer and Marion Englander Weimer are now living at 115 Oakwood Avenue, Troy, N. Y. Mr. Weimer is a technical sales representative of the Arrow

Shirt Company.

Jerome L. Rosenberg, Atomic Energy Commission postdoctoral fellow in chemistry, is co-author of a research report entitled Phosphoglyceric Acid in Photosynthesis, published in the November 24 issue of Science. Dr. Rosenberg is attached to the Institute of Radiobiology and Biophysics at the University of Chicago.

The Rev. Cortland R. Pusey, who was serving as pastor in Royersford, has been appointed by Bishop Fred P. Corson to the St. Andrew-Centenary Methodist Church, Philadelphia to fill the vacancy caused by the death of the Rev. Alonzo S. Fite, '15.

1942

Dr. Russell R. Tyson, Jr., is surgical resident at Methodist Hospital, Philadelphia. He is a graduate of Jefferson Medical Col-

lege.

Lt. Comdr. and Mrs. T. C. Harbert, Jr., announced the birth of their second son, David Alexander, on July 10. Mrs. Harbert is the former Ester A. Anderson. Commander Harbert, of the U. S. Navy, is on duty with the Research and Development

Board at the Pentagon and they live at 6716 Glen Carlyn Drive, East Falls Church, Va.

1943

Mr. and Mrs. Winfield A. Peterson, Jr., of Worcester, Mass., announced the birth of their second son, William Michael, on October 4. Mrs. Peterson is the former Eleanor Hunter of Pittsfield, Mass.

Mr. and Mrs. E. Harvey Lenderman, Jr., of 519 E. Farriss Ave., High Point, N. C., announced the birth of their second son, Stuart Craig Lenderman, on September 12. Mrs. Lenderman is the former Verna Elizabeth Black.

1944

Concluding two years' duty at the American Embassy in Cairo, Egypt, Mary Margaret Miller was given a two month's vacation and returned to visit her mother, Dr. Luella B. Miller, in Mechanicsburg last month. At the end of her furlough she will go to the American Embassy in Athens, Greece. While in Egypt she made several short vacation trips, including a tour to the Holy Land.

trips, including a tour to the Holy Land.
The Rev. and Mrs. Robert L. Curry, of
26 South Second St., Saint Clair, Pa., announced the birth of a daughter, Holly
Marganne Curry, on July 24. Mrs. Curry
is the former Jane E. Treyz. They have two
other children, Robert L. Curry, aged three
and a half and William Treyz Curry, aged
two years. Rev. Curry spent seven weeks
last summer in Chicago working with the
National Broadcasting Company in the field
of radio and television. He is pastor of
the First Methodist Church in Saint Clair.

1945

Dr. John S. Newkam, Jr., has received word that he has passed his State Board Examinations. He will practice in Carlisle taking over the offices of the late Dr. James Cochran. He is a graduate of the Pittsburgh Medical School.

Dr. Ralph A. Bentz, physician of Harrisburg, Pa., entered the Navy Medical Corps as a lieutenant about a year ago. He is now stationed with Mobile X-ray Unit No. 9, U. S. Naval Hospital, Naval Air Base, Corpus Christi, Tex.

Mr. and Mrs. Richard M. Keer, of 8
Revere Lane, Wayne, Pa., announced the
birth of a son, David Hartzell Keer on
October 3. Mrs. Keer is the former Dorothy
J. Hartzell. Mr. Keer is an instructor of
German at the Valley Forge Military Acad-

Mr. and Mrs. James W. Millard, of 431 Highland Avenue, Arlington, N. J., announced the birth of a daughter, Joan Claire, on June 30. Mrs. Millard is the former Claire H. Merritt.

A Request for Personals

Alumni are requested to send dated newspaper clippings from their home town papers reporting their activities, and also wedding invitations and birth announcements to The Dickinson Alumnus, Dickinson College, Carlisle, Pa.

Alumni should also report the winning of graduate degrees, employment and promotions—in fact any information for personals and also the permanent biographical records of the alumni office.

Zane G. Kaufmann has accepted the position of analytical chemist with the Calco Chemical Division of the American Syanamid Company at Bound Brook, N. J. He and his wife, the former Ruth Cardell, are living at 114 East High Street, Bound Brook.

1946

Mr. and Mrs. Russell J. Emele, of Belvidere, N. J., announced the birth of another son, Corydean, on September 3. Mrs. Emele is the former Anne Carol Boylhart.

The Rev. Gilbert P. Reichert, who is now serving his second year as pastor of the First Methodist Church, New Knoxville, Ohio, received a special Rural Pastors Scholarship offered by the Ohio Annual Conference of the Methodist Church last summer. He attended Garrett Biblical Institute, Evanston, Ill., the first semester of the summer session there.

Mr. and Mrs. Robert Louis Weber, III, of 200 Geford Avenue, Mount Vernon, N. Y., announced the birth of a son, Robert Louis Weber, IV, on June 20. Mrs. Weber is the former Virginia Twyeffort.

Mr. and Mrs. J. Pearson Miller, III, of 5 South Rodney Drive, Wilmington, Del., announced the birth of a son, Frederick Michael, on October 8.

1947

Mr. and Mrs. Donald L. Ketels, of 9309 Treaty Road, Philadelphia 14, Pa., announced the birth of their second son, Douglas T. Ketels, on September 21.

Roberta Saseen was married on April 22 last to Joseph J. Mallouk, who is in the real estate managements business. They now reside at 75 Bank Street in the Greenwich Village section of New York.

1948

John H. Swope is now employed by John Wanamaker, in a executive capacity. John has recently completed his work at Temple University for the Master of Arts degree in Business Administration. Mr. and Mrs. Swope are now living in Philadelphia.

Carolyn Henninger is a member of the freshman class in the nursing school at Methodist Hospital, Philadelphia.

Norman L. Levine, who graduated from the Law School last June, passed the bar examinations in July and was admitted to the practice of law in Mifflin County last month. He will practice in Lewistown, Pa., where he and his wife, the former Dorothy Herpster, reside at 421 South Brown Street with their two children, Allen and Barbara.

Regina Vath was married on September 2 to Dr. Richard L. Smythe in a chapel of the Riverside Church, New York City. Dr. Smythe, a graduate of Harvard College and the Harvard Medical School, has a teaching fellowship in anatomy at the Harvard Medical School and is interning in surgery at the Peter Bent Brigham Hospital in Boston. He is the son of Mr. and Mrs. William P. Smythe, of Indianapolis, Ind. The couple now reside at 15 Aberdeen Street, Boston, Mass.

Charles R. Crawford is associated with the Lancaster County Branch of the Pennsylvania Economy League, Inc., and is living at 433 West Orange Street, Lancaster, Pa.

Mr. and Mrs. (nee Ann Ulrich, '47) William Starrett are now living in Gary, W. Va., in the heart of West Virginia's billion dollar coal fields. Their address is Box 431. Bill has been employed as a geologist since September 15 by the United States Coal and Coke Company, a subsidiary of U. S. Steel. They are living at the Gary Clubhouse, but hope to secure an apartment soon. Ann is hoping to do some substituting in the public schools during the year.

The Reverend Edgar C. Hersh was married to Miss Jean G. Hatfield, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Homer Hatfield in Asbury Methodist Church, Allentown, Pa., on September 10. Mrs. Hersh is a graduate of the Allentown High School and the Allentown Hospital School of Nursing and has been a member of the hospital's nursing staff. The Reverend Mr. Hersh will graduate from Drew Theological Seminary in June, where he is now president of the senior class. The couple make their home at 425 Walnut Street, Catasauqua, where Mr. Hersh is pastor of the Grace Methodist Church.

Austin H. Armistead, who is a second-

year student at Union Theological Seminary in New York, is in charge of youth activities at the Methodist Church of Mamaroneck, L. I., N. Y.

James Doherty is taking graduate work in Russian Studies at Columbia University.

1949

Chuman Chun is employed in the Department of Defense and is teaching in the evening school of the Georgetown University Language Institute. He is living in Apartment 705, 4550 Connecticut Avenue, Washington, D. C.

Mr. and Mrs. Harlan Elvin are living at 417 South Forty-third Street, Philadelphia. Harlan is attending the Philadelphia College of Osteopathy and his wife is working for Lea and Febiger, publishers of medical and scientific works. Their little daughter goes to nursery school.

George W. Smith, of New Cumberland, has been called into active service and is now a second lieutenant serving with A. A. Company No. 2 at the Armored School, Fort Knox, Ky.

Mr. and Mrs. Francis C. Gerber, of 320 Parker Street, Carlisle, announced the birth of a daughter, Barbara Paige, on October 19. Mrs. Gerber is the former Paige Shearer, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Rippey T. Shearer.

Announcement has been made of the marriage of Marlin E. Bowman to Miss Ruth Eleanor Miller, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Homer E. Miller in November at the Evangelical United Brethren Church at Cleona. Mrs. Bowman is a graduate of Millersburg High School and had been employed in the office of the Pennsylvania Power and Light Company. Mr. Bowman is employed as a chemist in the Department of Hygiene, State Department of Health. The couple reside in Harrisburg.

Mr. and Mrs. David A. Fogg, of "Fair-field," Salem-Woodstown Road, Salem, N. J., announced the birth of a daughter, Susan Carolyn, on November 24. Mrs. Fogg is the former Barbara J. Alfred, '50.

1950

Mr. and Mrs. Louis Raymond Elder have announced the marriage of their daughter, Janet Chapline, to Arthur C. Flandreau, Jr., on September 9. The father of the groom, the Rev. A. C. Flandreau, '03, officiated. The couple now reside at 5723 South Kenwood Avenue, Chicago 37, Ill. They are both doing graduate work at the University of Chicago for the degree of Master of Arts. Each was awarded a scholarship for graduate study and Mrs. Fland-

reau is working in French language and literature, in the Division of Humanities, and the groom is in the Graduate Library School of the University.

Mitchell E. McNeal is employed at Hiram Swank's Sons in Johnstown, Pa.

Robert B. Davies is attending the Philadelphia College of Osteopathy.

Robert Whitworth Bird has moved from Philadelphia to Byram Drive, Greenwich, Conn.

Joseph J. Burgoon, Jr., of Carlisle, is now with HNS Company 484, Construction Engineer Battalion, Fort Leonard Wood,

Announcement has been made of the engagement of John M. Klepser, Jr., of Hollidaysburg, member of the Senior Class, to Miss Patricia Ann Chritzman, of Greencastle, Pa. Miss Chritzman is a graduate of Beaver College and is a student at the Katherine Gibbs Secretarial School, New York City.

David P. Kurtz, Jr., is working for the Atlantic Refining Company in their Research and Analytical Department as a chemist. His wife, the former Katherine Carpenter, '48, is secretary to Dr. J. Watson Pedlow, '29, of the American Viscose Company, at Chester. The couple reside at 80 west LaCrosse Avenue, Lansdowne, Pa.

Joyce C. Shaffer and Stanley C. Nagle, Jr., were married on August 12 in Trinity Lutheran Church, Harrisburg. They are now living at 2014 Market Street, Harrisburg.

Mr. and Mrs. Sidney D. Kline, of Wyomissing Hills, Pa., have announced the engagement of their daughter, Joan, a member of the Senior Class, to Ralph M. Gingrich, '48, son of Mr. and Mrs. Ralph C. Gingrich, of Williamsport, Pa. Ralph is a student at Jefferson Medical College.

Pfc. William L. Bamberger was called to active duty with the 28th Division Artillery and is now serving with Headquarters Battery at Camp Atterbury, Ind.

Ethel C. Peterson was married to Mr. John Gouger Feinour, Jr., in Christ Church, Sharon, Conn., on October 14.

Warren F. Coolidge was called to active duty with the Army in October when he was assigned to Fort Belvoir, Va. He and his wife, Eleanor Uhland Coolidge, are living at 544 Argyle Drive, Falls Church, Va. Warren W. Kopp is a student in the De-

Warren W. Kopp is a student in the Department of Bacteriology and Preventive Medicine at the University of Missouri Graduate School, Columbia, Mo.

Doris Farquharson is enrolled in the Special Course for College Women at the Katherine Gibbs School in New York, and began her work in September.

Ellen M. Petersen and Thomas W. Rich-

ards were married on September 16 in Prospect Park, Pa. They are living at 46 F Crescent Road, Greenbelt, Md. Tom is teaching history at the high school there and doing work for his M.A. at the University of Maryland.

Robert M. Bair has enrolled as a member of the February 1951 class of the American Institute for Foreign Trade at Thunderbird Field, Phoenix, Arizona. Specializing in Latin America, he is taking an intensive training course to prepare for a career in business or government abroad.

Ted Gault is attending the Divinity School

of Yale University.

Julia Ann Einstein and James K. Abbott were married in the Lutheran Church of Our Saviour, Fort Worth, Texas on October 22. They now reside in Kennett Square, Pa.

1950L

Harry B. Thatcher, who graduated from the Law School last February, took the bar examinations in July and was admitted to the practice of law in Mifflin County last month. He will practice in Lewistown where he and his wife, Sylvia, and son, Ronald, age 2, reside at South Grand Street. He graduated from Susquehanna University in 1941 and then served five years in the Army Air Force and holds a reserve commission as a lieutenant colonel. He wears the legion of merit for distinguished service during World War II.

1951

John Wesley Stamm, a Senior of the College and son of the Rev. and Mrs. John F. Stamm, of Chambersburg, was granted a local preacher's license in October by the Harrisburg District Conference of the Methodist Church. He plans to attend Drew Theological Seminary.

The engagement has been announced of Miss Patricia Ann Chritzman, daughter of Mrs. Henry G. Chritzman, West Baltimore Street, Greencastle, Pa., and the late Dr. Henry G. Chritzman to Mr. John Mark Klepser, Jr., son of Attorney and Mrs. John Mark Klepser of Sylvan Hills, Hollidaysburg, Pa. Miss Chritzman attended Greencastle High School, Greencastle, and is a graduate of Penn Hall, Chambersburg, Pa., and Beaver College, Jenkintown, Pa. is enrolled as a student at Katherine Gibbs Secretarial School, New York City, N. Y. Mr. Klepser is a graduate of Hollidaysburg High School, Hollidaysburg, attended Gettysburg College, Gettysburg, and is now a senior at Dickinson College, Carlisle, where he is a member of the Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternity. During World War II, he served in the Submarine Service, graduating from

the Submarine School, New London, Conn., and was aboard the U.S.S. Odax (484) for two and one-half years. Attorney John M. Klepser is a graduate of Dickinson College in 1922 and the Dickinson School of Law in 1924. Mrs. Klepser is the former Mary Adele Snyder of Carlisle, Pa.

Mr. and Mrs. Harold S. Irwin, Jr., of 26 West High Street, Carlisle, announced the birth of a son, Harold S. Irwin, III, on

November 26.

Les Weidner, member of the Marine Corps Reserve, was recalled to active duty in September and is now stationed at Ft. Campbell, Ky. His address is Cpl. Delmar L. Weidner, ER 13221388, Co. B, 76th Tank Bn., 11th Airborne Division, Ft. Campbell, Ky.

David E. Sultzaberger was married to Miss Florence Alice MacGregor, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. H. Bruce MacGregor, of Mechanicsburg, Pa., in the Trinity Lutheran Church there on September 17. The groom is an employee of the Mechanicsburg Naval Depot.

Carol Helen Kranke and Rowland Ritchey Lehman, Jr. were married on November 12 in the Community Church, Radburn, N. J. The Rev. Dr. Rowland R. Lehman, '23, Assistant to the President of the College, father of the bridegroom, officiated. Joan MacGregor was maid of honor. The couple reside in Radburn where Mr. Lehman is associated with the bride's father in the Plaza Hardware Company.

1952

Frank B. Miller, Jr., member of the junior class, was married to Miss Mary Louise Hunter, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. Alexander Hunter, of Mechanicsburg, Pa. in St. Paul's Reformed Church there on October 8. The couple reside at R. D. No. 2, Mechanicsburg, Pa.

OBITUARY

1886—Rodgers K. Foster died in the Williamsport Hospital on October 6, 1950, of congestive heart failure after an illness of four days. He was 84 years of age.

He was born in Phillipsburg, Pa., the son of the Rev. Dr. Milton K. Foster, who was awarded the honorary degree of Doctor of Divinity by the College in 1896, and Martha R. Foster. He prepared for college at the Bucknell Academy and Dickinson Preparatory School and after graduation at Dickinson, read law in Huntingdon and was admitted to the bar there in 1888. He received his A. M. from the College in 1889. He married Alice Chaney.

Later he went to Williamsport and became associated with the law firm of McCormich, Herdic, and Hurst. He remained with this firm and their successors until his death, at which time he was the oldest practicing member of the Lycoming County

Bar Association.

For many years, he was on the Board of Directors of the Williamsport Dickinson

Seminary, now Lycoming College.

He is survived by two sons, Hugh B., of Williamsport, Pa., and Donald R., of Terre Haute; by a brother, Dr. Milton H. Foster, '94, of New York, a retired Medical Director of the U. S. Public Health Service; and also by a grandson and two great grandsons.

1896—The Rev. Dr. G. Wayne Channell, a member of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference for more than 50 years, died on October 2 at the home of his son, John W. Channell, 284 Congress Avenue, Lansdowne, after an illness of several months.

Born at Pine Grove, Pa., on July 24, 1876, he received his A.B. from the College in 1896 and became a member of the Philadelphia Conference that year. In 1897, he received the degree of Doctor of Divinity from Ursinus College. During his ministry, he served several of the leading churches in the Conference.

He was a member of Beta Theta Pi Fraternity and the Union Philosophical

Society.

Besides his son, Dr. Channell is survived by his wife, Mrs. Charlotte Mitchell Channell, and four daughters; Miss Ruth Channell, of Philadelphia; Mrs. Neil Wittaker, of Teaneck, N. J.; Mrs. Norman W. Wood, of Baltimore; and Mrs. John Graham, of Wilmington, Del.

1898-J. Raymond Hemminger, native of Carlisle and widely known Gospel evangelistic singer, died on October 26 following an operation on the brain at Tacoma,

Wash., where he had lived and conducted a bookstore since 1929.

A graduate of the Carlisle High School, he entered the College in 1894 and withdrew at the end of his sophomore year to teach in the Carlisle Public Schools. He then entered upon his life work as a Gospel singer and was associated with noted revival leaders in all parts of this country, Canada, and in England. For a long time, he conducted union meetings sometimes in tents, sometimes in churches, in the Nicholson-Hemminger campaigns. For many years and at the time of his death, he served as home financial agent for Rev. M. Mosser Smyser, '00, missionary in Japan.

Born on December 13, 1874, in Ickesburg, Pa., his family moved to Carlisle where his father was engaged in auctioneering and as a property assessor. He is survived by his wife, the former Miriam Shimer, of Milton, and four sons. David, George, John, and Robert. He is also survived by a sister, Sara E. Hemminger, who

lived at his home in Tacoma.

1901-Frank E. Yoder, of East Orange, N. J., structural engineer for the city of Philadelphia, died suddenly on August 29 in his Philadelphia office of coronary occlusion.

Born in Sunbury, Pa., Mr. Yoder was reared in Reading and graduated from the high school there. After entering the College, he transferred to Pennsylvania State College, where he received the degree of Civil Engineer in 1905. He also did post-

graduate work at Columbia and Syracuse Universities.

The year before he entered Dickinson, he was a catcher on the Reading Team of the International League. While at Penn State, he played on the Football Team and was captain of the Baseball Team. After leaving college, he was a construction engineer with the Lackawanna Railroad for 30 years and during World War II, was employed in a similar capacity at the Army Air Force Base in Newark.

He was design engineer for the Design Construction Company during the completion of the Philadelphia sewer and airport projects and was apppointed by the city as structural engineer last fall. He was a member of the American Society of Civil

Engineers and of the Watsessing Methodist Church in Bloomfield, N. J.

Surviving are his wife, Mrs. Lyde Shanklin Yoder, formerly of Harrisburg; two sons, Frank E., Jr., and Richard, both of East Orange; a brother, Harry Yoder, and a sister, Mrs. Evelyn Hangen, both of Reading, Pa. A daughter, Janet, born on April 20, 1921, died March 10, 1944, in an airplane accident.

1907-The Rev. William H. Micheals, clergyman and educator, died at his home in Media, Pa., on November 7 after an illness of ten weeks. For the last three years, he had been pastor of the Crozierville Methodist Church. He was ordained in the Philadelphia Conference in 1909.

For 25 years from 1920 to 1945, he was supervising principal of the Media

Schools.

Born in Philadelphia on May 21, 1883, he graduated from the Central High

School and from Dickinson Preparatory School. He graduated from the College with Phi Beta Kappa honors in 1907 and received his M.A. in education from the University of Pennsylvania.

Active in the Masonic fraternity, he served for some years and at the time of his death was a Grand Chaplain of the Grand Holy Royal Arch Chapter of Pennsylvania.

He was a member of the Odd Fellows and of Phi Kappa Sigma Fraternity.

He is survived by his wife, the former Miss Mary Haines, of Rising Sun, Md., and two daughters, Elizabeth Stephens Micheals, '38, and Margaret Sinclair Micheals. Interment was made in the Media Cemetery.

1910—B. Frank Porter, who for some years was manager for the H. J. Heinz Company at their Houston, Tex., office, died suddenly of a heart attack on October 1. He had been associated with the H. J. Heinz Company since his graduation from the College.

Born in Scottdale, Pa., on August 5, 1888, he was the son of the late Mr. and Mrs. M. B. Porter. He graduated from the Scottdale High School and received his

A.B. from the College in 1910.

During World War I, he served in the Army with the rank of Battalion Sergeant Major. He was a member of the Methodist Church, a Mason, and a member of Beta

Theta Pi Fraternity.

He is survived by his wife, the former Clara Estep, a graduate of the Girls Collegiate School of Los Angeles, Calif., who resides at 1925 South Boulevard, Houston, Tex.; and a daughter, Mrs. Harry D. Wade, and two grandchildren, of Evanston, Ill. He is also survived by three brothers, Percy and Harry, of Scottdale, Kenneth, of Pittsburgh; and two sisters, Mrs. Helen Tuit and Mrs. Louise Strickler, of Northampton, Mass.

1910—Paul Frank Stacy, prominent advertising man, died on September 14 in

Bellevue Hospital, New York City, after a long illness.

At the time of his death, he was a staff member of the Roger Brown Advertising Agency. He had previously been associated with N. W. Ayers and also Castle Films. He had written scripts for the Eveready Radio Program.

Born in South Berwick, Me., on January 10, 1887, he was the son of the late Frank E. and Isabelle McIntire Stacy. He prepared for college at Berwick Academy

and graduated in 1910. He was a member of Kappa Sigma Fraternity.

He is survived by his wife, Mrs. Olive Stacy, of Ogdensburg, N. Y.; a son, Ralph, of Beach Haven, N. J.; a daughter, Miss Carol Stacy, of New York, and his brother, Dr. Roland L. Stacy, '04, of Ogdensburg, N. Y.

1914—Walter B. Numbers, teacher and former educational adviser to the Veterans' Administration, died suddenly of a heart attack on June 19 in Denver, Colo.

Born in Philadelphia on May 7, 1889, he graduated from Williamsport-Dickinson Seminary and from the College in 1914. He also received his A.M. degree from the College. During World War I, he served in the A.E.F. with the 73d Aero Squadron. When he entered the service, he was teaching in Bridgewater, S. Dak., where he later became superintendent of schools. At various times in his career, he taught also in Minnesota and in California. In 1942-43, he was an instructor at the School of Photography at the Army Air Base, Lowry Field, and in 1945-47, was a vocational adviser with the Veterans' Administration. At the time of his death, he was teaching in the Yuma High School System in Colorado.

He was a member of Phi Kappa Sigma Fraternity, the American Legion, the

National Educational Association, and of the Methodist Church.

On May 27, 1942, he married Miss Jennie Holben, of Denver, an alumni of Mankato State Teachers College, Mankato, Minn. She survives him.

1915-The Rev. Alonzo S. Fite, pastor of the St. Andrew-Centenary Methodist Church, Philadelphia, died suddenly of a heart attack on October 17 at his home in

that city.

Born in Philadelphia on June 14, 1892, he attended Dickinson Seminary, graduated from the College in 1915, and received his B.D. degree from the School of Theology of Boston University in 1918 when he became a member of the Philadelphia Methodist Conference. From 1919 until 1922, he was in charge of the academic department at the Stevens Trade School, Lancaster, Pa. During his pastorates, he served charges in Lancaster, Allentown, Pottsville, Bethlehem, and Philadelphia.

A member of Alpha Chi Rho Fraternity, he was a 32d degree Mason, a member of the Odd Fellows and of the Good Fellowship Club. He was a Royal Arch Mason,

a Knight Templar, and a member of Lehigh Consistory.

He is survived by his wife, the former Mabel Landis, of Hummelstown, Pa., his mother, Mrs. Emma Fite, of Langhorne, five children and two brothers. His children are the twin daughters, Mrs. Robert E. Crispin, of Bethlehem, and Mrs. Howard Hoose, of Glenside. Another daughter is Mrs. W. R. Van Voorhis, of Cleveland; a son, Alonzo S. Fite, Jr., of Yardley; and Miss Barbara Ann Fite, a daughter, of Philadelphia. His brothers are Wilbur E. Fite, of Langhorne, and Morris D. Fite, of Bethayres.

1919L-Harold C. Wilson, who had been associated with Hemphill, Noyes, Graham, Parsons & Co., investment brokers of New York City since 1929, died on November 25 at his home, 77 First Avenue, Little Falls, N. J.

Born in Elizabeth, N. J., 55 years ago, he was a graduate of Conway Hall and attended the Law School in 1916-17. He was a Mason and a member of Sigma Chi

Fraternity.

His widow, who was Lillian Vaughan Davidson at their marriage in 1917, survives.

1927-Daniel D. Pottiger died of cancer after a long illness on October 23 at the home of his sister, Mrs. William P. Quigley, 2505 Agate Street, Harrisburg, on October 23. The year before his death, he had undergone a major operation in the Reading Hospital. He went in August to spend his vacation with his sister and was unable to return to work.

For some years, he had been manager of Pomeroy's Men's Department at Reading and prior to that had been manager of the State Liquor Store in Steelton, and

before that he was floor manager of Child's Restaurant in Philadelphia.

Born in Harrisburg on July 19, 1901, he graduated from Harrisburg Technical High School and then attended Dickinson Seminary. Following his graduation from the College in 1927, he attended Harvard Law School. He was a member of Camp Curtin Methodist Church and of Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternity.

He is survived by his wife, the former Hope Joyce Thrush, of Lemoyne, and a son, Daniel L. Pottiger, born November 29, 1947. He is also survived by three sisters, Mrs. Quigley, Mrs. Lillian Miller, and Mrs. Mable Taylor, all of Harrisburg,

and four brothers, Frank Leroy, Howard, and Earl, also of Harrisburg.

1938-Captain Arthur J. Thomas, Jr., of Kingston, Pa., was one of the soldiers of the 28th Division, Pennsylvania National Guard, who died on September 11 when a troop train carrying units of the Division was wrecked at West Lafayette, Ohio. He had more than four years of service during World War II as a first lieutenant and graduated from the Artillery School at Fort Sill, Okla., in 1948. Two months later, he received his captain's rating.

Prior to his service in World War II, he was manager of the Commercial Credit Company Office in Lancaster, Pa., and after the war, worked as a traffic manager and

supervision of coal business.

A graduate of the Kingston High School, he also attended Pennington Seminary

and after leaving the College, was a student at the University of Scranton.

He is survived by his wife, the former Sara O'Malley, of Kingston, Pa., whom he married on December 20, 1941, and their four children, Sally, aged seven; Nancy, aged five; Molly, aged three, and Michael, who was less than three months old at the time of his father's death. He was a cousin of Professor R. H. McAndrews.

A member of the Common's Club and the Presbyterian Church, he was also a member of the American Legion and the V. F. W. and the Kingston Alumni Letterman's Club. Interment was made in St. Mary's Cemetery, Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

man's club. Interment was made in St. Mary's Centerery, whites barre, 1 a.

1943—Captain James H. Yeingst, of the Air Force, died in a crash of a B-36 plane near Cleburne, Tex., on November 22. He was a radar navigator and was stationed at the Carswell Air Base, Ft. Worth, Tex., at the time of his death. He had

been in the military service for nine years.

Captain Yeingst first entered the armed forces as a private in the Signal Corps on October 20, 1941, and rose to the rank of master sergeant during 14 months' service in the South Pacific. He was then selected for the Air Force Cadet Training at Selman Field, Monroe, La. Upon graduation, he was commissioned a second lieutenant and sent to England to fly with the Eighth Air Force, where he completed 65 missions, 35 of which he flew with the Royal Air Force. He was then sent to France to ferry back planes which had been shot down behind enemy lines, but after a serious crash landing, was sent back to the United States though he was not injured in the accident.

Born in Mt. Holly Springs, Pa., on March 28, 1920, he was the son of Mr. and Mrs. Ross J. Yeingst. He graduated from the Carlisle High School and had a fine record at the College during his two years as a student prior to his entering the army during World War II. He was a member of the Methodist Church and of Phi Kappa

Sigma Fraternity.

He is survived by his wife, the former Ethelene Myers, who he married in New Cumberland, Pa., on October 2, 1943, and a son, James H. Yeingst, Jr., born November 22, 1944. He is also survived by his parents and a brother, Ross, of Mt. Holly Springs, and a sister, Mrs. Lois Shope, of Franklintown. Following funeral services at which the Reverend Richard C. Mader, '48, officiated, interment was made in Mt. Holly Springs Cemetery.

1948L—Lee W. Haberlen, an attorney of Mt. Pleasant, Westmoreland County, Pa., lost his life in an automobile accident on October 29 near Gettysburg, Pa. He graduated from Gettysburg College in 1942 and after war service entered the Dickinson School of Law. He was a member of the Sigma Chi fraternity.

1949—William Walter Van Baman, a graduate of the College in 1949 and a student in the Dickinson School of Law, died of a fractured skull and a brain injury sustained in an automobile accident on October 22 near Gettysburg, Pa. He was alone in the car at the time and apparently failed to negotiate a curve when his car

skidded, climbed an embankment, and rolled over. He was thrown from the car and landed on his head some twenty-five feet away.

Born in Boston, Mass., on June 25, 1924, he was the son of W. W. Van Baman, an attorney of York, Pa., and Mrs. Pauline Torrence Van Baman. He

prepared for college at York Collegiate Institute.

A member of Theta Chi Fraternity, he was also a member of the International Relations Club, the Union Philosophical Society, and the Canterbury Club. A member of the Episcopal Church, he was active as a field worker during vacation periods in the Brotherhood of St. Andrew. He was also a member of the York Country Club and York Lodge No. 266, F. & A. M.

He enlisted in the Army Air Force on March 15, 1943, and was discharged with the rank of Sergeant on April 13, 1946. He attended various army schools and served as gunnery instructor with the 482nd Army Air Force Base Unit at Merced,

Calif.

Interment was made in the family vault at Prospect Hill Cemetery, York, Pa.

NECROLOGY

The Rev. Dr. Benjamin Gregory, for twenty years editor of the Methodist Times, author and noted British clergyman, who received the honorary degree of Doctor of Literature from the College, died in England on July 20, at the age of 75 years.

He was a pioneer of religious films both on the making of films and in the provision of projectors for chapels and churches. He was a founder and honorary secretary of the Religious Film Society and in 1936 became a governor of the British Film Institute. It was in this connection that he made several visits to the United States and Canada.

From 1912 to 1917, he was superintendent of the Huddersfield Mission, and during the latter part of World War I, in association with Lady Askwith, he introduced communal soup kitchens to the badly damaged district of East London. For many years, he was an executive of the free church council and the Methodist representative to the National Free Church Federal Council. He was recognized as an earnest and sincere evangelist.

The Reverend Doctor Glenn M. Shafer, honorary alumnus and pastor emeritus of the Second Presbyterian Church, died suddenly at his home in Carlisle on Sunday afternoon, October 1, at the age of 66 years. He is survived by his wife, the former Helen Ann Marbery.

He conducted communion services at the First Presbyterian Church and passed away quietly while taking an afternoon rest. He was pastor of the Second Presbyterian Church for 30 years from October 1, 1917, until his retirement after serving

40 years in the ministry on April 1, 1948.

A native of Ohio, Dr. Shafer received his B.A. degree in 1903 from Heidelberg College and after two years in the newspaper field, he entered Princeton Theological Seminary, where he graduated in 1908 and the same year received his M.A. degree from Princeton for work in philosophy and literature. Dickinson College conferred the degree of Doctor of Divinity upon him in 1926.

George B. Stringfellow, who was janitor and general man of all jobs at Metzger Hall for nearly thirty years, died suddenly on November 3. He collapsed whie at

work at the dormitory and died shortly after his admission to Carlisle Hospital at the age of 71 years.

He was a member of the Modern Woodmen of America and the Fraternal Order

of Eagles.

He is survived by his wife, Mrs. Grace Goodyear Stringfellow; a son, Paul Stringfellow, of Carlisle; and a daughter, Lieutenant Violet G. Stringfellow, now stationed at the Tokyo Hospital in Japan. He is also survived by a brother, Guy Stringfellow, of Carlisle; and a sister, Helen Robinson, of Brooklyn, N. Y.

Walter Stuart, Jr., father of two Dickinsonians, died at the age of 79 years on October 10. He was a retired farmer and also a retired rural mail carrier, in which he served for 30 years.

He was the father of Henry L. Stuart, '38, '48L, and George B. Stuart, '39L, members of the Cumberland County Bar. He is also survived by another son

Robert W. Stuart, of Long Island, N. Y., and a sister and four brothers.

Mrs. Emma K. Wetzel, mother of two Dickinsonians, died at her home in Carlisle on September 24. She was the widow of the late W. Abner Wetzel. She was the mother of Mary K. Wetzel, '22, of Carlisle, and Mrs. Clarence A. Cover, the former Isabelle Wetzel, '32, of Wilmington, Del., who survive. She is also survived by a brother, Samuel B. Keller, of Mechanicsburg, and a grandson, William A. Cover, a student of the College.

Herbert Wing, father of Dr. Herbert Wing, Jr., professor of history at the College, and grandfather of H. Gilman Wing, '48, died suddenly on November 22 after suffering a heart attack while transacting business in a bank at New Bedford, Mass. He was 86 years of age.

Flags on town buildings in Dartmouth, Mass., were flown at half mast in honor of the former town official who served four terms as a member of the Massachusetts House of Representatives and six years as a member of the Board of Selectmen, four of which he was chairman. From 1917 to 1919, he was delegate

to the convention which revised the State constitution.

After his marriage, he lived in Minneapolis until 1893 when he and his wife, who survives and is in poor health, moved to Massachusetts and lived on the ancestral farm in South Dartmouth. He engaged in farming and the settlement of estates and was a leader in procuring developments for his town and community. In later years, he was interested in the historical records of memorials of the community. Because his father was a whaler, Mr. Wing became active in the New Bedford Port Society and served for a number of years as its president. He was also a member of the Old Dartmouth Historical Society. He was a Mason, a member of the York Rite bodies and had recently been honored for his more than fifty years' membership in Zuhrah Temple, Minneapolis.

He is also survived by another son, Lawrence P. Wing, a banker of New Bedford, and three other grandchildren, Richard L. Wing, now at Harvard for his doctor's degree in education; Miss Priscilla A. Wing, of Essex; and Mrs. Bradford

I. Pierce, of New Bedford, children of Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence P. Wing.



DIRECTORY OF ALUMNI CLUBS

Dickinson Club of Altoona

D. M. Geesey, Jr., '40, '42L President Robert C. Sluztker, '48 ... Vice-President Mrs Anna G. Stultz, '33 ... Vice-President Rev. G. H. Ketterer, D.D., '08, Secretary Warriors Mark, Pa. John M. Klepser, '22Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Atlantic City

Lloyd E. Spangler, '22Vice-President Mabel E. Kirk, '05 ...Secretary-Treasurer 4301 Atlantic Ave., Atlantic City, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Baltimore

Rev. S. Carroll Coale, D. D., '08 . President C. Blair Kerchner, '40 . . . Vice-President W. Gibbs McKenney, Jr., '39, Vice-President Catharine Eltemiller, '46 Secretary 7 Aintree Road, Towson, Md.
J. Pearce Davenport, '40 Treasurer

Dickinson Club of Boston

Howard W. Selby, '13 President A. Norman Needy, '16, Secretary-Treasurer 236 Bellevue St., West Newton, Mass.

Dickinson Club of California

Rev. Frank E. Flegal, '03 President Rev. L. D. Gottshall, '22 ... Vice-President Joseph Z. Hertzler, '13, Secretary-Treasurer 1865 Sacramento St., San Francisco, Cal.

Dickinson Club of Chicago

Dickinson Club of Delaware

Dickinson Club of Harrisburg

Dorothy H. Hoy, '41 ... President LeRoy W. Householder, '28 . Vice-President Raymond A. Wert, '32 ... Vice-President Arthur R. Mangan, '37 ... Secty.-Treas. 2130 Green St., Harrisburg, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Lehigh Valley

Rev. Michael F. Davis, '17 President Charles F. Irwin, Jr., '27 ... Vice-President Mrs. Joseph Baker, '24 Secty.-Treas. 822 Third St., Fullerton, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Michigan

Roscoe O. Bonisteel, '12President Ellsworth H. Mish, '09 ...Vice-President Wendell J. LaCoe, '27, Secretary-Treasurer 511 Pauline Blvd. Ann Arbor. Mich Dickinson Club of New York

Dickinson Alumni Association of Northeastern Pennsylvania

Gomer Morgan, '11L ... President William P. Farrell, '21L ... Treasurer Frank Flannery, '20L ... Vice-President Hopkin T. Rowlands, '31L ... Secretary 930 Miners National Bank Bldg., Wilkes-Barre, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Northern New Jersey Mrs. Thomas R. Gallagher, '26 . President Rev. Louis E. Young, '38 . Vice-President C. William McCord, '44 Secty.-Treas. 528 Chestnut Street, Roselle, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Ohio

John R. Milbourn, '06 President Dr. Clayton C. Perry, '16 ... Vice-President Mrs. H. W. Lyndall, Jr., '35 ... Vice-President Dr. John W. Flynn, '09 ... Secty-Treas. 3000 Lincoln Blvd., Cleveland Heights, O.

Dickinson Club of Philadelphia

904 Blythe Ave., Drexel Hill, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Pittsburgh

Mrs. Blanche S. Elder, '19President Rev. Adam A. Nagay, '14 ..Vice-President Clarence B. Nixon, Jr., '46 ...Secty.-Treas. 843 Washington Ave., Carnegie, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Reading-Berks

W. Richard Eshelman, '41, '47L . President John B. Stevens, Jr., '42L . Vice-President Mrs. Sidney D. Kline, '27 . . . Secty.-Treas. 62 Grand View Blvd., West Lawn, Pa.

Dickinson Club of San Diego

Dr. Fred M. Uber, '26President Robert S. Plummer, '42Secty.-Treas. 4562 Cleveland St., San Diego, Calif.

Dickinson Club of Southern California Hewlings Mumper, '10President Joseph S. Stephens, '26Secty.-Treas, 3231 Midvale Ave., Los Angeles 34, Cal.

Dickinson Club of Southern New Jersey Evan D. Pearson, '38President Leighton J. Heller, '23, '25L, Vice-President Mrs. James K. Lower, '37Secty.-Treas. 177 Johnson St. Salem, N. J.

Dickinson Club of Central New Jersey

Rev. William R. Guffick, '25 President Leon M. Robinson, '39 Vice-President Royce V. Haines, '30 Secty.-Treas. P. O. Box 67, Morrisville, Pa.

Dickinson Club of Washington

Dickinson Club of West Branch Valley L. Waldo Herritt, '33, '35LPresident Dr. William D. Angle, '30 ..Vice-President Mrs. Hamilton H. Herritt, '30, Secty.-Treas 208 West Main St., Lock Haven, Pa.

Dickinson Club of York

Earl M. Schroeder, '26President Dorothy M. Badders, '32 ..Vice-President J. R. Budding, '32, '36LSecty.-Treas. 19 East Market St., York, Pa.

New York Alumnae Club

Mrs. Edna M. Hand, '20 President L. Esther Caufman, '19 ... Vice-President Mrs. C. W. Liebensberger, '09. Secty.-Treas. 220 Union Ave., Rutherford, N. J.

